

LUND UNIVERSITY

Electroencephalography for neurological prognostication after cardiac arrest

Westhall, Erik

2016

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Westhall, E. (2016). *Electroencephalography for neurological prognostication after cardiac arrest.* [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Clinical Neurophysiology]. Department of Clinical Sciences, Division of Clinical Neurophysiology, Lund University.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors

and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.
Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00



Electroencephalography for neurological prognostication after cardiac arrest

Electroencephalography for neurological prognostication after cardiac arrest

Erik Westhall



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION By due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at Segerfalk salen, Wallenberg Neurocentrum, Sölveg. 17, Lund on Friday, March 18, 2016 at 09.00 a.m.

Faculty opponent Associate Professor Jan Claassen New York-Presbyterian Hospital/Colombia University Medical Center, USA

> Supervisor Associate Professor Tobias Cronberg

Co-Supervisors
Professor emeritus Ingmar Rosén Associate Professor Hans Friberg

Organization Document name LUND UNIVERSITY DocTORIAL DISSERTATION Department of Clinical Sciences, Division of Clinical Neurophysiology March 18th, 2016 Author Erik Westhall Sponsoring organization Title Electroencephalography for neurological prognostication after cardiac arrest Abstract Asstract This thesis focuses on the prognostic value of electroencephalography (EEG) in comatose patients resuscitated after cardiac arrest (CA), using both simplified continuous EEG monitoring (CEEG) and routine EEG. Background: Comatose survivors are admitted to an intensive care unit (ICU) to support vital functions. Post- resuscitation care includes target temperature management (TTM) for 24 hours. The degree of brain injury after CA varies among patients. Withdrawal of life-sustaining therapy due to presumed extensive brain injury is the most common cause of death during the hospital stay. Multipe prognostic tools are used to identify patients with a portential for recovery. Next to the neurological examination, EEG is the most commonly used tool to assess prognoss. However, the value of EEG has been limited by varying classification systems, interrater variability and influence of sedation. Methods: In the "coma project" (2004-2004) consecutive patients at the general ICU in Lund were monitored with simplified cEEG from arriad until 120 hours after CA. Pre-defined cEEG patients at different time points were correlated to outcome. In the TM trial (2010-2013) where patients were randomized to 33°C versus 36°C, a routine EEG was performed in patients still comatose after rewarning. The EEGes were classified into highly			
Department of Clinical Sciences, Division of Clinical Neurophysiology Date of issue March 18th, 2016 Author Erik Westhall Sponsoring organization Title Electroencephalography for neurological prognostication after cardiac arrest Abstract This thesis focuses on the prognostic value of electroencephalography (EEG) in comatose patients resuscitated after cardiac arrest (CA), using both simplified continuous EEG monitoring (cEEG) and routine EEG. Background: Comatose survivors are admitted to an intensive care unit (ICU) to support vital functions. Post- resuscitation care includes target temperature management (TTM) for 24 hours. The degree of brain injury is the most common cause of death during the hospital stay. Multiple prognostic tools are used to identify patients with a potential for recovery. Next to the neurological examination. EEG is the most commony used tool to assess prognosis. However, the value of EEG has been limited by varying classification systems, interrater variability and influence of sedation. Methods: In the "coma project" (2004-2008) consecutive patients at the general ICU in Lund were monitored with simplified CEEG from arrival until 120 hours after CA. Pre-defined cEEG patterns at different time points were correlated to outcome. In the TTM trial (2010-2013) where patients were randomized to 33°C versus 36°C, a routine EEG was performed in patients Still comatose after rewarming. The EEGs were classified into highly malignant, malignant and beingn patients by four EEG specialists from different countines according to the standardized EEG ferminology proposed by the American Clinical Neurophysiology Society. The rationale and study design for this EEG evaluation was published.	Organization LUND UNIVERSITY	Document nai DOCTORIAL D	me DISSERTATION
Author Erik Westhall Sponsoring organization Title Electroencephalography for neurological prognostication after cardiac arrest Abstract This thesis focuses on the prognostic value of electroencephalography (EEG) in comatose patients resuscitated after cardiac arrest (CA), using both simplified continuous EEG monitoring (cEEG) and routine EEG. Background: Comatose survivors are admitted to an intensive care unit (ICU) to support vital functions. Post-resuscitation care includes target temperature management (TTM) for 24 hours. The degree of brain injury after CA varies among patients. Withdrawal of life-sustaining therapy due to presumed extensive brain injury is the most commonly used tool to assess prognosis. However, the value of EEG has been limited by varying classification systems, interrater variability and influence of sedation. Methods: In the "coma project" (2004-2008) consecutive patients at the general ICU in Lund were monitored with simplified CEG form arrival until 120 hours after CA. Pre-defined cEEG patterns at different time points were correlated to outcome. In the TTM trial (2010-2013) where patients were randomized to 33°C versus 36°C, a routine EEG was performed in patients still comatose after rewarming. The EEGs were classified into highly malignant, malignant and beingn patients by four EEG specialists from different countries according to the standardized EEG lerminology proposed by the American Clinical Neurophysiology Society. The rationale and study design for this EEG evaluation was published. Result: 95 patients in the "coma project" were monitored with simplified cEEG. A continuous background at start or gistration or at normothermia strongly predicted a good outcome. All patients with electrographic status epile	Department of Clinical Sciences, Division of Clinical Neurophysiology	Date of issue	116
Title Electroencephalography for neurological prognostication after cardiac arrest Abstract This thesis focuses on the prognostic value of electroencephalography (EEG) in comatose patients resuscitated after cardiac arrest (CA), using both simplified continuous EEG monitoring (GEG) and routine EEG. Background: Comatose survivors are admitted to an intensive care unit (ICU) to support vital functions. Post-resuscitation care includes target temperature management (TTM) for 24 hours. The degree of brain injury after CA varies among patients. Withdrawal of life-sustaining therapy due to presumed extensive brain injury is the most common cause of dealth during the hospital stay. Multiple prognostic tools are used to identify patients with a potential for recovery. Next to the neurological examination, EEG is the most commonly used tool to assess prognosis. However, the value of EEG has been limited by varying classification systems, interrater variability and influence of sedation. Methods: In the "coma project" (2004-2008) consecutive patients at the general ICU in Lund were monitored with simplified CEEG from arrival until 120 hours after CA. Pre-defined CEEG patterns at different time points were correlated to outcome. In the TTM trial (2010-2013) where patients were randomized to 33°C versus 38°C, a routine EEG was performed in patients still comatose after rewarming. The EEGs were classified into highly malignant malignant and beingin patients by four EEG specialists from different countris according to the standardized EEG terminology proposed by the American Clinical Neurophysiology Society. The rationale and study design for this EEG evaluation was published. Results: 95 patients in the "coma project" were monitored with simplified CEEG.	Author Erik Westhall	Sponsoring or	ganization
Abstract This thesis focuses on the prognostic value of electroencephalography (EEG) in comatose patients resuscitated after cardiac arrest (CA), using both simplified continuous EEG monitoring (cEEG) and routine EEG. Background: Comatose survivors are admitted to an intensive care unit (ICU) to support vital functions. Post-resuscitation care includes target temperature management (TTM) for 24 hours. The degree of brain injury after CA varies among patients. Withdrawal of life-sustaining therapy due to presumed extensive brain injury is the most common cause of death during the hospital stary. Multiple prognostic tools are used to identify patients with a potential for recovery. Next to the neurological examination, EEG is the most commonly used tool to assess prognosis. However, the value of EEG has been limited by varying classification systems, interrater variability and influence of sedation. Methods: In the "coma project" (2004-2008) consecutive patients at the general ICU in Lund were monitored with simplified CEEG from arrival until 120 hours after CA. Pre-defined CEEG patterns at different time points were correlated to outcome. In the TTM trial (2010-2013) where patients were randomized to 33°C versus 36°C, a routine EEG was performed in patients still conatose after rewarning. The EEGs were classified into highly mailignant, mailgnant debrign patients at the orgenerian Clinical Neurophysiology Society. The rationale and study design for this EEG evaluation was published. Results: 95 patients in the "coma project" were monitored with simplified CEEG. A continuous background at start of registration or at normothermia strongly predicted a good outcome. All patients with allogion or at normothermia strongly predicted a good outcome. At selected TTM trial sites, routine	Title Electroencephalography for neurological prognostication after cardiac arrest		
Abstract This thesis focuses on the prognostic value of electroencephalography (EEG) in comatose patients resuscitated after cardiac arrest (CA), using both simplified continuous EEG monitoring (cEEG) and routine EEG. Background: Comatose survivors are admitted to an intensive care unit (ICU) to support vial functions. Post-resuscitation care includes target temperature management (TTM) for 24 hours. The degree of brain injury after CA varies among patients. Withdrawal of life-sustaining therapy due to presumed extensive brain injury is the most common uses of death during the hospital stay. Multiple prognostic tools are used to identify patients with a potential for recovery. Next to the neurological examination, EEG is the most commonity used tool to assess prognosis. However, the value of EEG has been limited by varying classification systems, interrater variability and influence of sedation. Methods: In the "coma project" (2004-2008) consecutive patients at the general ICU in Lund were monitored with simplified CEEG from arrival until 120 hours after CA. Pre-defined CEEG patterns at different time points were correlated to outcome. In the TTM trial (2010-2013) where patients were randomized to 33°C versus 36°C, a routine EEG was performed in patients by four EEG specialists from different countries according to the standardized EEG terminology proposed by the American Clinical Neurophysiology Society. The rationale and study design for this EEG evaluation was published. Results: 95 patients in the "coma project" were monitored with simplified CEEG. A continuous background at start of registration or at normothermia strongly predicted a good outcome. All patients with electorgraphic status epilepticus (ESE) evolving from a burst-suppression background was compatients. A highly malignant teEEG seas identified			
Background: Comatose survivors are admitted to an intensive care unit (ICU) to support vital functions. Post- resuscitation care includes target temperature management (TTM) for 24 hours. The degree of brain injury after CA varies among patients. Withdrawal of life-sustaining therapy due to presumed extensive brain injury after most common cause of death during the hospital stay. Multiple prognostic tools are used to identify patients with a potential for recovery. Next to the neurological examination. EEG is the most commonly used tool to assess prognosis. However, the value of EEG has been limited by varying classification systems, interrater variability and influence of sedation. Methods: In the "come project" (2004-2008) consecutive patients at the general ICU in Lund were monitored with simplified cEEG from arrival until 120 hours after CA. Pre-defined cEEG patterns at different time points were correlated to outcome. In the TTM trial (2010-2013) where patients were randomized to 33°C versus 36°C, a routine EEG was performed in patients still comatose after rewarming. The EEGs were classified into highly malignant, malignant and benign patterns by four EEG specialists from different countries according to the standardized EEG terminology proposed by the American Clinical Neurophysiology Society. The rationale and study design for this EEG evaluation was published. Results: 95 patients in the "coma project" were monitored with simplified cEEG. A continuous background at start of registration or at normothermia storogity predicted a good outcome. All patients with electrographic status epilepticus (ESE) evolving from a burst-suppression background died without reganing consciousness whereas ESE evolving late from an established continuous background died without reganing consciousness. A highly malignant EEG specialists. Any malignant EEG feature was identified with moderate in	Abstract This thesis focuses on the prognostic value of electroencephalography (EEG) in comatose patients resuscitated after cardiac arrest (CA), using both simplified continuous EEG monitoring (cEEG) and routine EEG.		
Methods: In the "coma project" (2004-2008) consecutive patients at the general ICU in Lund were monitored with simplified cEEG from arrival until 120 hours after CA. Pre-defined cEEG patterns at different time points were correlated to outcome. In the TTM trial (2010-2013) where patients were randomized to 33°C versus 36°C, a routine EEG was performed in patients still comatose after rewarming. The EEGs were classified into highly malignant, malignant and benign patterns by four EEG specialists from different countries according to the standardized EEG terminology proposed by the American Clinical Neurophysiology Society. The rationale and study design for this EEG evaluation was published. Results: 95 patients in the "coma project" were monitored with simplified cEEG. A continuous background at start of registration or at normothermia strongly predicted a good outcome. All patients with electrographic status epilepticus (ESE) evolving from a burst-suppression background did with out regaining consciousness whereas ESE evolving late from an established continuous background was compatible with good outcome. At 8 selected TTM trial sites, routine EEGs were recorded after rewarming in 103 comatose patients. A highly malignant EEG was identified with substantial interrater agreement and had a specificity of 100% to predict poor outcome for all four EEG specialists. Any malignant EEG feature was identified with moderate interrater agreement but had a low specificity to predict a poor outcome (48%). A benign EEG was found in 1% of the patients with a poor outcome. Conclusions: Simplified cEEG provides early positive and negative prognostic information in comatose patients after cardiac arrest. A highly malignant routine EEG after rewarming reliably predicted a poor outcome. An isolated malignant routine EEG feature was not a reliable predictor whereas a benign routine EE	Background: Comatose survivors are admitted to an intensive care unit (ICU) to support vital functions. Post- resuscitation care includes target temperature management (TTM) for 24 hours. The degree of brain injury after CA varies among patients. Withdrawal of life-sustaining therapy due to presumed extensive brain injury is the most common cause of death during the hospital stay. Multiple prognostic tools are used to identify patients with a potential for recovery. Next to the neurological examination, EEG is the most commonly used tool to assess prognosis. However, the value of EEG has been limited by varying classification systems, interrater variability and influence of sedation.		
In the TTM trial (2010-2013) where patients were randomized to 33°C versus 36°C, a routine EEG was performed in patients still comatose after rewarming. The EEGs were classified into highly malignant, malignant and benign patterns by four EEG specialists from different countries according to the standardized EEG terminology proposed by the American Clinical Neurophysiology Society. The rationale and study design for this EEG evaluation was published. <i>Results</i> : 95 patients in the "coma project" were monitored with simplified cEEG. A continuous background at start of registration or at normothermia strongly predicted a good outcome. All patients with electrographic status epilepticus (ESE) evolving from a burst-suppression background died without regaining consciousness whereas ESE evolving late from an established continuous background was compatible with good outcome. At selected TTM trial sites, routine EEGs were recorded after rewarming in 103 comatose patients. A highly malignant EEG was identified with substantial interrater agreement and had a specificity of 100% to predict poor outcome for all four EEG specialists. Any malignant EEG feature was identified with a poor outcome. <i>Conclusions</i> : Simplified cEEG provides early positive and negative prognostic information in comatose patients after cardiac arrest. A highly malignant routine EEG after rewarming reliably predicted a poor outcome. An isolated malignant routine EEG feature was not a reliable predictor whereas a benign routine EEG was highly predictive of good outcome. Key words EEG, Interrater variability, Brain injury, Cardiac arrest, Hypothermia, Prognosis, Outcome ISSN and key title 1652-8220 ISBN Supplementary bibliographical information Language English ISSN and key title 1652-8220 ISBN Security classification	Methods: In the "coma project" (2004-2008) consecutive patients at the general ICU in Lund were monitored with simplified cEEG from arrival until 120 hours after CA. Pre-defined cEEG patterns at different time points were correlated to outcome.		
Results: 95 patients in the "coma project" were monitored with simplified cEEG. A continuous background at start of registration or at normothermia strongly predicted a good outcome. All patients with electrographic status epilepticus (ESE) evolving from a burst-suppression background died without regaining consciousness whereas ESE evolving late from an established continuous background was compatible with good outcome. At 8 selected TTM trial sites, routine EEGs were recorded after rewarming in 103 comatose patients. A highly malignant EEG spacialists. Any malignant EEG feature was identified with moderate interrater agreement but had a low specificity to predict a poor outcome (48%). A benign EEG was found in 1% of the patients with a poor outcome. <i>Conclusions:</i> Simplified cEEG provides early positive and negative prognostic information in comatose patients after cardiac arrest. A highly malignant routine EEG after rewarming reliably predicted a poor outcome. An isolated malignant routine EEG feature was not a reliable predictor whereas a benign routine EEG was highly predictive of good outcome. Key words EEG, Interrater variability, Brain injury, Cardiac arrest, Hypothermia, Prognosis, Outcome Classification system and/or index terms (if any) Supplementary bibliographical information ISBN and key title 1652-8220 ISBN 978-91-7619-255-9 Recipient's notes Number of pages Price Security classification Security classification	In the TTM trial (2010-2013) where patients were randomized to 33°C versus 36°C, a routine EEG was performed in patients still comatose after rewarming. The EEGs were classified into highly malignant, malignant and benign patterns by four EEG specialists from different countries according to the standardized EEG terminology proposed by the American Clinical Neurophysiology Society. The rationale and study design for this EEG evaluation was published.		
At 8 selected TTM trial sites, routine EEGs were recorded after rewarming in 103 comatose patients. A highly malignant EEG was identified with substantial interrater agreement and had a specificity of 100% to predict poor outcome for all four EEG specialists. Any malignant EEG feature was identified with moderate interrater agreement but had a low specificity to predict a poor outcome (48%). A benign EEG was found in 1% of the patients with a poor outcome. <i>Conclusions</i> : Simplified cEEG provides early positive and negative prognostic information in comatose patients after cardiac arrest. A highly malignant routine EEG after rewarming reliably predicted a poor outcome. An isolated malignant routine EEG feature was not a reliable predictor whereas a benign routine EEG was highly predictive of good outcome. Key words EEG, Interrater variability, Brain injury, Cardiac arrest, Hypothermia, Prognosis, Outcome Classification system and/or index terms (if any) Supplementary bibliographical information Language English ISSN and key title 1652-8220 ISBN Price pages Recipient's notes Number of pages Security classification Price	<i>Results</i> : 95 patients in the "coma project" were monitored with simplified cEEG. A continuous background at start of registration or at normothermia strongly predicted a good outcome. All patients with electrographic status epilepticus (ESE) evolving from a burst-suppression background died without regaining consciousness whereas ESE evolving late from an established continuous background was compatible with good outcome.		
Conclusions: Simplified cEEG provides early positive and negative prognostic information in comatose patients after cardiac arrest. A highly malignant routine EEG after rewarming reliably predicted a poor outcome. An isolated malignant routine EEG feature was not a reliable predictor whereas a benign routine EEG was highly predictive of good outcome. Key words EEG, Interrater variability, Brain injury, Cardiac arrest, Hypothermia, Prognosis, Outcome Classification system and/or index terms (if any) Supplementary bibliographical information Language English ISSN and key title 1652-8220 Issn 978-91-7619-255-9 Recipient's notes Number of pages Security classification	At 8 selected TTM trial sites, routine EEGs were recorded after rewarming in 103 comatose patients. A highly malignant EEG was identified with substantial interrater agreement and had a specificity of 100% to predict poor outcome for all four EEG specialists. Any malignant EEG feature was identified with moderate interrater agreement but had a low specificity to predict a poor outcome (48%). A benign EEG was found in 1% of the patients with a poor outcome.		
A highly malignant routine EEG after rewarming reliably predicted a poor outcome. An isolated malignant routine EEG feature was not a reliable predictor whereas a benign routine EEG was highly predictive of good outcome. Key words EEG, Interrater variability, Brain injury, Cardiac arrest, Hypothermia, Prognosis, Outcome Classification system and/or index terms (if any) Supplementary bibliographical information ISSN and key title 1652-8220 ISSN and key title 1652-8220 Recipient's notes Number of pages Security classification	Conclusions: Simplified cEEG provides early positive and negative prognostic information in comatose patients after cardiac arrest.		
Key words EEG, Interrater variability, Brain injury, Cardiac arrest, Hypothermia, Prognosis, Outcome Classification system and/or index terms (if any) Supplementary bibliographical information Language English ISSN and key title 1652-8220 ISBN 978-91-7619-255-9 Recipient's notes Number of pages Price Security classification Security classification	A highly malignant routine EEG after rewarming reliably predicted a poor outcome. An isolated malignant routine EEG feature was not a reliable predictor whereas a benign routine EEG was highly predictive of good outcome.		
Classification system and/or index terms (if any) Supplementary bibliographical information Language English ISSN and key title 1652-8220 ISBN 978-91-7619-255-9 Recipient's notes Number of pages Security classification	Key words EEG, Interrater variability, Brain injury, Cardiac arrest, Hypothermia, Prognosis, Outcome		
Supplementary bibliographical information Language English ISSN and key title 1652-8220 ISBN 978-91-7619-255-9 Recipient's notes Number of pages Security classification Security classification	Classification system and/or index terms (if any)		
ISSN and key title 1652-8220 ISBN 978-91-7619-255-9 Recipient's notes Number of pages Security classification	Supplementary bibliographical information		Language English
978-91-7619-255-9 Recipient's notes Number of pages Security classification	ISSN and key title 1652-8220		ISBN
Recipient's notes Number of pages Price Security classification Security classification			978-91-7619-255-9
Security classification	Recipient's notes	Number of pages	Price
		Security classification	

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sourcespermission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Each Werthall

Date 11/2 2016

Electroencephalography for neurological prognostication after cardiac arrest

Erik Westhall



Cover photo by Erik Westhall, "Routine EEG with suppressed background and superimposed continuous generalized periodic discharges".

Copyright Erik Westhall

Lund University Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation 2016:29

ISSN 1652-8220

ISBN 978-91-7619-255-9

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2016



To Johanna

"When you change the way you look at things, the things you look at change." -Max Planck

Contents

List of publications	10
Abbreviations	11
Background	12
Cardiac arrest	12
Epidemiology	12
Types and causes	12
Chain-of-survival	13
Experimental data of cerebral ischemia	13
Intensive care and target temperature management	14
Brain injury and multimodal prognostication	14
Clinical convulsions	16
EEG after cardiac arrest	17
History and physiology	17
EEG and cerebral ischemia	18
Routine EEG methodology	20
cEEG methodology	20
Simplified cEEG methodology	21
Characteristics of an optimal prognostic test	22
EEG for prognostication	23
Routine EEG prognostication	24
Unfavourable EEG	24
Suppressed or low-voltage background	25
Burst-suppression or discontinuous background	27
Alpha-theta-coma pattern	28
Unreactive background	29
cEEG prognostication	29
Background predictors of good outcome	30
Background predictors of poor outcome	30
Malignant bursts	32
Electrographic discharges	33
Aims of the thesis	37

Methods	39
Simplified cEEG study within the coma project (Paper I)	39
Background	39
Protocol	40
CEEG study design	40
Statistical methods	43
Routine EEG study within the TTM trial (Paper II-IV) Background	43
Protocol	43
Routine EEG study design	44
Statistical methods	45
Results and discussion	47
Simplified cEEG study (Paper I)	47
Patient inclusion and characteristics	47
Outcome	47
Prognostication at start of cEEG	47
Prognostication at normothermia	48
Electrographic status epilepticus	49
Simplified cEEG prognostication	51
Bouting EEG study (Banar II IV)	52
Patient inclusion and characteristics	53
Outcome	54
Highly malignant EEG	54
Malignant EEG	54
Benign EEG	56
Level of target temperature	58
Sedation	58
Strengths and limitations	58
Routine EEG prognostication	59
Conclusions	61
Future directions	63
Swedish summary / Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	
Acknowledgements	
References	71

List of publications

This thesis is based on the following papers, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

I. Rundgren M*, **Westhall E***, Cronberg T, Rosén I, Friberg H. *Continuous amplitude–integrated electroencephalogram predicts outcome in hypothermia–treated cardiac arrest patients*. Crit Care Med. 2010:38(9):1838–44. *These authors contributed equally to the study.

II. Westhall E, Rosén I, Rossetti O A, van Rootselaar AF, Kjaer W K, Horn J, Ullén S, Friberg H, Nielsen N, Cronberg T. *Electroencephalography (EEG) for neurological prognostication after cardiac arrest and targeted temperature management; rationale and study design.* BMC Neurology 2014, 14:159.

III. Westhall E, Rosén I, Rossetti O A, van Rootselaar AF, Kjaer W T, Friberg H, Horn J, Nielsen N, Ullén S, Cronberg T. *Interrater variability of EEG interpretation in comatose cardiac arrest patients*. Clinical Neurophysiology 2015, Dec;126(12):2397-404.

IV. Westhall E, Rossetti A O, van Rootselaar AF, Wesenberg Kjaer T, Horn J, Ullén S, Friberg H, Nielsen N, Rosén I, Åneman A, Erlinge D, Gasche Y, Hassager C, Hovdenes J, Kjaergaard J, Kuiper M, Pellis T, Stammet P, Wanscher M, Wetterslev J, Wise M P, Cronberg T and the TTM-trial investigators. *Standardized EEG interpretation accurately predicts prognosis after cardiac arrest*. Published ahead of print in Neurology, Feb 10, 2016.

Reprints were made with permission of the copyright owners.

Abbreviations

aEEG	Amplitude integrated electroencephalography/gram
ACNS	American clinical neurophysiology society
BIS	Bispectral index
CA	Cardiac arrest
cEEG	Continuous electroencephalography monitoring
CI	Confidence intervals
CPC	Cerebral performance category scale
EEG	Electroencephalography/gram
ESE	Electrographic status epilepticus
GCS	Glasgow coma scale
ICU	Intensive care unit
IQR	Interquartile range
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
N20	Cortical peak in median nerve somatosensory evoked potentials
NPV	Negative predictive value
PEA	Pulseless electrical activity
PPV	Positive predictive value
qEEG	Quantitative electroencephalography/gram
ROSC	Return of spontaneous circulation
SIRPIDs	Stimulus-induced rhythmic, periodic, or ictal discharges
SSEP	Somatosensory evoked potentials
SW	Polyspike-/spike-/sharp-and-wave
VF	Ventricular fibrillation
VT	Ventricular tachycardia
TTM	Target temperature management
WLST	Withdrawal of life-sustaining therapy

Background

Cardiac arrest

Epidemiology

Sudden cardiac arrest (CA) is a serious medical emergency and a common cause of death. Most CA occur in the community outside the hospital. In Sweden the yearly incidence of out-of-hospital CA is around 50 per 100.000 inhabitants¹, which is similar to the rest of the western world^{2,3}. Overall survival rates have increased in many countries during the past few decades⁴⁻⁶ and is currently 11% in Sweden⁷.



Figure 1. Sudden cardiac arrest Illustration by Bo Jönsson. With permission.

Types and causes

CA are categorised according to the location of arrest. The aetiologies and causes of mortality are different when comparing out-of-hospital and in-hospital CA^{8,9}.

Furthermore, CA are categorised depending on the presenting electrocardiographic rhythm into ventricular fibrillation (VF), non-perfusing ventricular tachycardia (VT), pulseless electrical activity (PEA) or asystole. The shockable rhythms (VF or VT) are associated with a better survival than the non-shockable rhythms (PEA or asystole)¹⁰, 34% compared to 4% according to recent Swedish registry data⁷.

A cardiac cause of the arrest is the most common¹¹, typically due to coronary heart disease¹². Non-cardiac causes, for instance suffocation or lung disease, also occur¹³. In these latter groups the brain is first suffering from hypoxia before the CA and subsequent combined hypoxic-ischemic insult.

Chain-of-survival

The "chain of survival"¹⁴ with early call for help, early cardiopulmonary resuscitation including chest compressions and defibrillation is important for the chance of receiving return of spontaneous circulation (ROSC). Reducing the duration from the arrest to ROSC is important for long term survival and neurological outcome¹⁵⁻¹⁷. After return of circulation the last step in the "chain of survival", the post resuscitation care ensues.

Around 25% of patients in whom cardiopulmonary resuscitation was initiated will reach the hospital alive⁷. Among these, approximately half will die during the hospital stay typically due to hypoxic-ischemic brain injury without restoration of consciousness¹⁸. On the other hand, the majority of survivors have no or only mild neurological long term disabilities¹⁸.



Figure 2. Chain of survival Copyright European Resuscitation Council. Published with permission from the Swedish Cardiac Arrest Registry.

Experimental data of cerebral ischemia

The brain has a high metabolic demand mainly due to high energy consumption by neurons to maintain homeostasis and for signaling. The brain has nearly no capacity for energy production without a continuous supply of oxygen and nutrients.

Sudden CA leads to instant global ischemia. Animal studies have shown that the available energy compounds, for instance adenosine triphosphate (ATP), are immediately reduced and depleted within minutes^{19,20} leading to neuronal damage^{21,22}. The degree of brain injury is directly related to the duration of the ischemic insult.

The ischemic cell death occurs after a delay of hours to days after the insult. This delay may offer a window for therapeutic interventions²³. The mechanisms leading to apoptotic or necrotic cell death are complex and involve cascades of deleterious events including loss of membrane potential, influx of calcium ions, glutamate release, damage to mitochondria, activation of destructive enzymes, free radical formation and toxicity due to nitric oxide production²⁴⁻³⁰.

In experimental animal studies, induction of hypothermia during or after CA has been shown to ameliorate the hypoxic-ischemic brain injury^{31,32}.

Intensive care and target temperature management

Comatose survivors after CA are typically admitted to the intensive care unit (ICU) to support vital functions. Post-resuscitation care includes target temperature management (TTM).

In 2002 two randomized trials comparing TTM at 33°C for 12-24 hours with no active temperature control showed improved neurological outcome in the group treated with TTM^{33,34}. In 2013 a large international trial showed no differences regarding mortality or neurological outcome comparing TTM at 33°C and 36°C for 24 hours³⁵.

In recent guidelines TTM is recommended for at least 24 hours with an option to choose a constant target temperature between 32°C and 36°C, but the exact target temperature is not specified³⁶.

The impact of the hypoxic-ischemic insult on multiple organ systems triggers a systemic inflammatory response syndrome, which is termed the post cardiac arrest syndrome. It includes brain injury, myocardial dysfunction and systemic ischemia-reperfusion response similar to sepsis^{37,38}.

The general management of these critically ill patients is complex and includes mechanical ventilation, sedation, circulatory support, coronary interventions, seizure management and more^{37,39}.

Brain injury and multimodal prognostication

Selective vulnerability

Specific brain regions and populations of neurons are more vulnerable to ischemia-reperfusion damage⁴⁰. The cerebral cortex, hippocampus, cerebellum, thalamus and striatum are examples of such regions⁴¹⁻⁴³ whereas the brain stem is less affected²¹.

Prognostication and withdrawal of care

The degree of brain injury after CA varies among patients. Withdrawal of lifesustaining therapy (WLST) due to presumed extensive brain injury is the most common cause of death during the hospital stay¹⁸.

Most patients with extensive brain injury after CA will die days or sometimes weeks after the arrest without regaining consciousness. In some patients, however, there is a risk of persistent coma. The prevalence of patients in persistent coma varies significantly between countries and cultures and is dependent on what care is offered and what decisions are made with regards to life-sustaining therapies before leaving the ICU. The majority of patients remaining comatose at hospital discharge will stay in a persistent vegetative state despite neurorehabilitation, but sporadic patients with favorable recovery were reported⁴⁴.

A structured prognostication strategy to identify patients who have a chance to wake up and restore neurological function is very important. When a prediction of poor neurological prognosis is stated, a decision to withdraw intensive care is made in many countries (but not all). The requirements on such prognostic predictions must be high since a false prediction can lead to premature or erroneous WLST and death instead of a potential recovery⁴⁵. A multimodal approach using multiple prognostic tools is therefore recommended^{36,39,46}.

Multimodal prognostic approach

When the comatose patient is admitted to the hospital some prognostic information can be obtained from the demographics and parameters of the arrest for instance, age, presenting electrocardiographic rhythm and time to restored circulation. However, these parameters and the initial clinical examination are often not reliable for definitive prognostication.

Brain stem and cortical functions may be totally absent early after CA in survivors with a good outcome and prolonged observation in the ICU is therefore needed. Primitive brain stem functions reappear first and at a later stage recovery of cortical functions and consciousness may occur⁴⁷.

Repeated clinical neurological examinations are the foundation for reliable prognostication and are based on assessment of coma depth including reaction to pain stimuli, testing of brain stem functions such as pupillary and corneal reflexes, and in addition observation of convulsions and spontaneous movements.

The prognostic ability of the clinical examination is dependent on the time after CA³⁶ and, unless the patient awakens, this examination is unreliable during the first days. Further, TTM requires sedation and sometimes neuromuscular blockade, which complicates prognostication. Therefore, additional prognostic tools such as neurophysiological methods, neuroimaging and biochemical markers

are recommended to support the clinical prognostication (figure 3). The neurophysiological methods commonly used for prognostication are electroencephalography (EEG) and median nerve somatosensory evoked potentials (SSEP).



Figure 3. Multimodal prognostication Illustration by Bo Jönsson. With permission.

Clinical convulsions

As a consequence of brain dysfunction clinical convulsions, regardless of EEG correlates, are common after CA and found in approximately one third of patients³⁵. They can appear as clonic, tonic-clonic or most often as myoclonic seizures also termed myoclonus.

Myoclonus is a clinical phenomenon with sudden, involuntary, brief twitches that can be stimulus induced. A proposed definition for status myoclonus is continuous and generalized myoclonus for \geq 30 minutes in comatose patients after CA³⁹. This definition is clinically defined regardless of EEG pattern.

Clinical convulsions, especially status myoclonus, are associated with a poor prognosis^{48-50} .

EEG after cardiac arrest

History and physiology

The EEG signal was first discovered by the German psychiatrist Hans Berger nearly one hundred years ago (1925). In the 1930s the technique was rediscovered and brought into clinical use, primarily to investigate epileptic seizures.

The source of the EEG signal is the pyramidal cells in the brain cortex⁵¹. The small electrical signals from these neurons are summated in space and time so that the EEG activity can be recorded with surface electrodes on the scalp.

The cortical EEG activity is modulated and synchronized by subcortical "pacemaker neurons" in the thalamus. In addition to these thalamocortical circuits the EEG is also modulated by connections within the cortex and by neurons that regulate sleep wake cycling in the brainstem (reticular activating system). In other words, EEG allows immediate assessment of cortical and subcortical function.

Since the 1960s EEG recordings have been used to evaluate prognosis in comatose patients resuscitated after CA. Several classification and grading systems of EEG after CA have been proposed during the years and one of the first was published by Hockaday in 1965⁵². Numerous studies using routine EEG were published during the following years. Unfortunately many different classification systems were used for prognostication and for defining electrographic seizure activity, which has hampered the evidence for using EEG after CA⁵³⁻⁵⁵.

There has been an increasing interest in EEG after the introduction of TTM following the initial randomized trials on induced hypothermia in $2002^{33,34}$.

The intensive care management has also developed considerably during the past decades and there is an increasing need for monitoring of body functions and reliable prognostication to guide treatment decisions.

The increasing interest in EEG patterns in critically ill patients and the urgent need for a consensus on how to describe these patterns led to the development of a standardized EEG terminology for critically ill patients proposed by the American clinical neurophysiology society (ACNS) in 2005⁵⁶. The revised version of this terminology published in 2013⁵⁷ also included a classification of background activity making it suitable for use after CA. Standardization of EEG interpretation is essential for reproducibility, meta-analyses and application of study results into clinical practice.

Figure 4 shows common EEG patterns after CA with some examples of definitions according to the ACNS EEG terminology.



Figure 4. Common EEG features after cardiac arrest

Criteria for background voltage and suppression-ratio (proportion of recording that constitutes suppression periods) according to the ACNS EEG terminology.

EEG and cerebral ischemia

The cortical neurons are in constant need of blood supply for oxygen and nutrients to maintain signaling and integrity. The EEG is therefore very sensitive to hypoxia or ischemia. Initial changes in ischemia include slowing of the background frequencies and appearance of periods with extremely low-voltage EEG, termed suppression periods. If the cerebral blood flow decrease below approximately 10mL per 100g brain tissue per minute all EEG background is suppressed and brain injury starts to develop⁵⁸. The degree of brain injury depends on the duration of time with low or no blood flow. After restored circulation the electrophysiological recovery of cortical activity or failure of recovery can be monitored with EEG.

Experimental animal models

The electrophysiological changes after CA have been studied in several animal models using EEG monitoring⁵⁹⁻⁷⁰. Within a few seconds to half a minute after CA the EEG was totally suppressed. Electrophysiological recovery was monitored over the following minutes to hours. After an initial period of complete suppression an alternating pattern, with bursts of cortical activity alternating with periods of suppression, was seen before the alternating pattern merged to a continuously appearing cortical activity. The duration of suppressed EEG and latency of appearance of a continuous background was correlated to neurological outcome as well as neuropathological injury.

Human data and natural course of recovery

Case reports of patients that underwent EEG monitoring in the operating room during a circulatory arrest provide some insights to the electrophysiological changes directly after a sudden CA in humans. Within approximately ten seconds there is a generalized suppression of all EEG activity. Cortical activity returned within minutes after restored circulation but the duration of these circulatory arrests were shorter compared to a typical out-of-hospital CA^{71,72}.

Important work in describing the evolution of EEG in patients resuscitated after sudden CA was performed by Jørgensen and colleagues in the 1980s using repeated prolonged EEG recordings^{73,74}. They proposed a sequential recovery of cortical activity with three phases. At first the EEG was suppressed with no detectable cortical activity followed by a discontinuous intermittent cortical activity followed by a continuously appearing cortical activity.

Patients not receiving TTM (n=125) who had a suppressed EEG when the monitoring was initiated, soon after restored circulation, were included in Jørgensen's initial studies. All the patients that later regained consciousness (n=37) restored a continuous background within the first day⁷³. The cortical activity was first seen in the frontal leads and appeared discontinuously with alternating periods of suppression before merging into a continuous cortical activity with amplitudes above $20\mu V^{47}$. The amplitudes and frequencies of the continuous background improved further with time. The time to return of a continuous background correlated exponentially with the time point when the patients regained consciousness⁷⁵. On the contrary, in the patients that remained unconscious until death (n=88) the electrophysiological recovery was often incomplete or delayed⁷⁴. Only half (n=44) of these patients with poor outcome restored a continuous background within 1-5 days. A minority (n=17) restored no cortical activity and had a suppressed EEG until death and some (n=27) restored a discontinuous cortical activity but never a continuous background.

EEG and target temperature management

Ongoing controlled temperature down to the level of 32°C does not *per se* significantly affect the EEG in humans^{76,77}. However, the EEG activity is sensitive to sedation⁷⁸, which is used during TTM. In sufficient doses sedation can cause burst-suppression and in very high doses even a totally suppressed EEG⁷⁹. During mild hypothermia, clearance of drugs is prolonged with the risk of residual effects of sedation after stopping infusion of the drugs. The use of short acting sedatives has been suggested³⁶. To what degree sedation in clinically used doses during TTM affects the EEG is not fully known. EEG interpretation can also be complicated by artefacts that accompany TTM, for instance from muscle shivering, mechanical ventilation or electrical equipment in the ICU environment.

In summary, the temperature levels used during TTM do not seem to affect the EEG whereas sedation and artefacts that accompany TTM may affect reliability.

Routine EEG methodology

Routine EEG is a standard procedure used around the world. It is non-invasive, safe, inexpensive and available within a few hours at most hospitals, at least during office hours. Multiple electrodes, usually 16-21 surface electrodes, are positioned over the scalp according to the international 10-20 system and the typical duration of recording is 20-30 minutes. It is performed by trained EEG technicians and allows testing for reactivity to external stimuli. In the digital systems used nowadays simultaneous video recording of the patient is easily performed, which facilitates interpretation and correlation to clinical convulsions. In comatose patients with artificial ventilation, muscle relaxants are often useful to reduce artefacts from muscle and movements.

cEEG methodology

Continuous EEG monitoring (cEEG) is increasingly used in the ICU to evaluate diverse motor phenomena and detect electrographic seizures and changes in background activity, which may have therapeutic implications⁸⁰.

Performing a multichannel cEEG over several days is relatively expensive and resource consuming regarding manpower⁸¹.

Frequent or continuous monitoring with EEG after CA is recommended in guidelines^{82,83}. Treatment of clinical and electrographic seizures after CA is also recommended³⁶, but whether cEEG monitoring, routine EEG or even no EEG should be used in the diagnosis and treatment remains controversial due to resource utilization and lack of evidence for improving outcome^{36,81}.

Simplified cEEG methodology

It is often challenging to provide "gold standard" multichannel cEEG monitoring around the clock outside the large centres, since it necessitates EEG technicians and regular review by EEG specialists. Therefore, methods to simplify recordings and interpretations have been developed in recent years⁸⁴.

Montages

Simplified montages, which can be applied by trained ICU nurses around the clock can be used to screen for seizures and monitor gross changes of the background activity⁸⁵.

Studies on adult patients with seizures using simplified montages with 4 to 7 channels report a somewhat lower sensitivity (68-93%) to detect seizures and a preserved specificity (94-98%) compared to a multichannel cEEG⁸⁶⁻⁸⁹. Such comparisons have not yet been performed in CA patients, who have a high proportion of generalized discharges, and therefore the detection rate in a simplified montage would likely be higher than in the mentioned studies.

qEEG trending

Techniques using quantitative EEG measurements (qEEG) can be applied to ease interpretation by displaying time compressed trends of qEEG data. Many of these tools also facilitate interpretation by giving numeric values or display simplified trends adapted for visual pattern recognition.

Amplitude integrated EEG (aEEG) is an example of such trend monitoring. The use of aEEG is well established for decades in the neonatal ICU, where it provides prognostic information after asphyxia and facilitates detection of subclinical seizures^{90,91}.

A recent study on adult patients with seizures of mixed etiologies found a sensitivity of 84% and a specificity of 69% to detect seizures using a panel with four qEEG trends, including aEEG, displaying simplified qEEG data from each hemisphere, with no access to the original EEG signal⁹². A combined interpretation of qEEG trends and the original EEG signal is recommended and enhance reliability of seizure detection and artefact recognition⁹¹.

Examples of other modalities of qEEG that have been explored after CA are suppression-ratio (degree of discontinuity), bispectral index (BIS) and entropy measurements.

22

Automatic detections

Promising automated detections and alarms for events like electrographic seizures have been developed and further improvement of these qEEG techniques is ongoing.

Figure 5 summarizes some of the differences between a multichannel routine EEG and simplified cEEG monitoring.

Routine EEG

- Multiple (≥16) electrodes
- Started by EEG technologists
- Maintained by technologists
- Interpreted by EEG-specialists
- Sensitive to technical problems
- 30 min repeated snapshots
- Background details
- Seizures very sensitive
- Interictal Ep sensitive
- Reactivity is tested

Simplified cEEG

- Few (4-8) electrodes
- Started by ICU nurses
- Maintained by ICU nurses
- Preliminary interpret bedside
- Adapted to ICU environment
- Days trends over time
- Main pattern (trend analysis)
- Relatively sensitive in ICU
- Interictal Ep insensitive
- Reactivity not tested

The methods complement each other!!

Figure 5.

Differences between a routine EEG and simplified continuous EEG monitoring.

Characteristics of an optimal prognostic test

Several statistical terms are used to describe the prognostic ability of a test. Sensitivity (true positive rate) measures the proportion of patients with poor outcome that are correctly identified by the test. Specificity (true negative rate) measures the proportion of patients with good outcome that are correctly identified. An optimal prognostic test should have both sensitivity and specificity of 100% or very near 100%. Prerequisites to obtain this are that the methodology is robust, and if the test result is dependent on an assessment the interrater variability among the assessors has to be low. The method should also be specific for the injury that it is supposed to assess and for which prognostication is based on. For instance, EEG can apart from the brain injury also be reversibly affected by sedation and metabolic factors.

To describe the reliability of a test to predict poor outcome the most important factor is the false positive rate $(FPR)^{93}$. For instance, a test with an FPR of 15% would mean that in 15% of the patients with a good outcome the test results would instead falsely have predicted a poor outcome, with an inherent risk of premature WLST. This explains why the FPR has to be as low as possible, with narrow 95% confidence interval (CI), if the test is to be used for prediction of outcome.

When investigating the prognostic ability of a test the results should optimally be blinded to the treating team, otherwise there is a risk that the findings directly or indirectly affect level of care and decisions on WLST. The risk of a so called self-fulfilling prophecy is present in a majority of prognostic studies after CA and may lead to the reporting of a falsely high specificity for a test to predict poor outcome^{54,55}.

EEG for prognostication

Meta-analyses and the level of evidence for prognostication using EEG have been hampered mainly by the inconsistent use of classification systems and definitions between studies. Also variations regarding the time points of EEG recording complicate meta-analyses, since the EEG patterns are not stable but rather evolve during the first days after CA. Thereby the prognostic value of a certain EEG pattern can change considerably depending on the time point after CA. Other important limitations of EEG are influence of sedation, interrater variability and varying methodological setups, for instance electrode montages. Due to the diversity of used definitions, some described patterns are only evaluated in a few studies risking so called publication bias⁹⁴. Several reviews and meta-analyses of the literature have been performed^{53,95.97} and complemented with evidence from recent years including patients that have received TTM or were monitored with cEEG^{54,55,94}. Most studies included in these reviews lack blinding of the treating team to the EEG results and criteria for withdrawal of care is often not described and therefore the risk of self-fulfilling prophecy cannot be excluded.

This topical summary of the prognostic value of EEG in adults is primarily based on these reviews, with the addition of some case reports and recent publications. No systematic search criteria of the literature was applied. The focus is primarily on malignant patterns such as suppression, burst-suppression, unreactive EEG and abundant epileptiform activity. The prognostic values are reported separately for TTM-treated and non-TTM-treated patients, mainly due to the risk of lingering sedation after TTM but also since studies using TTM were performed during the recent years and these patients received modern intensive care.

Routine EEG prognostication

Routine EEG has been a standard examination and recommended for prognostication after CA for many decades and it is still the most common tool used in addition to the clinical neurological examination⁹⁸.

The recent standardized ACNS EEG terminology has previously not been explored prospectively in routine EEG studies after CA. Most previous studies cannot be retrospectively classified according to this terminology and therefore, when performing meta-analyses, the existing evidence is often lumped together in wider categories with inconsistent definitions.

Unfavourable EEG

Non-TTM-treated patients

A meta-analysis by Wijdicks 2006 included five studies with 223 non-TTMtreated patients. The patients with "unfavourable EEG patterns" were lumped together (suppression, burst-suppression, alpha-theta-coma, generalized periodic complexes) and had an FPR of 3% (95%CI 1-11) for predicting a poor outcome (\approx CPC3-5 at 1-6 months)⁵³. The authors also proposed a subgroup of malignant patterns and concluded that "generalized suppression, burst-suppression with generalized epileptiform activity, or generalized periodic complexes on a flat background are strongly but not invariably associated with outcomes no better than persistent vegetative state".

TTM-treated patients

In a recent meta-analysis by Golan 2014 including 11 studies with 552 TTMtreated patients an "unfavourable EEG pattern" (suppression, burst-suppression, unreactive pattern, status epilepticus) had an FPR of 7% (95%CI 4-12) for predicting a poor outcome (CPC3-5 at hospital discharge-6 months)⁹⁴. The timing of EEG recording was within 72 hours after ROSC in eight studies and beyond 72 hours in three studies. It is noteworthy that FPR was 4% (95%CI 1-8) before 72 hours and 0% (95%CI 0-3) after 72 hours. In the conclusion the authors suggested delaying prognostic testing to beyond 72 hours after ROSC.

Suppressed or low-voltage background

The description of an EEG background with low amplitude differs between studies regarding both chosen nomenclature and amplitude thresholds.

The terms electrocerebral inactivity or isoelectric EEG were used historically mainly in the context of brain death evaluations and were defined as "no activity $>2\mu$ V" in a recording fulfilling certain rigid technical standards⁷⁹. These terms are omitted in the recent ACNS terminology.

In the ACNS terminology the term suppression is defined in a longitudinal bipolar montage as "all activity $<10\mu$ V during the entirety of the recording" and a low voltage background as "most or all activity $<20\mu$ V" whereas background amplitudes $>20\mu$ V is classified as normal⁵⁷.

Most previous EEG studies used a higher amplitude threshold in their definition of suppression compared to the ACNS terminology and thus included low voltage EEGs in the term suppression. A low voltage background in a comatose CA patient is still considered a grossly abnormal sign and should not be confused with a low voltage EEG without focal or generalized slowing that can be found as a normal variant in awake healthy persons, which may be explained by a lesser degree of synchronization in those individuals⁷⁹.

Historically an isoelectric, suppressed or low voltage background was considered a highly malignant sign if persistent >24 hours after CA in a normothermic patient unaffected by sedatives or metabolic disorders. This is in concordance with the studies of Jørgensen where failure of recovery from the initial most malignant phase after CA with no cortical activity lead to poor outcome in all patients⁷⁴.

Non-TTM-treated patients

If patterns with background amplitude $<20\mu$ V are lumped together 11 routine EEG studies with non-TTM-treated patients were found^{52,99-108}. All EEGs were performed >24 hours after CA. None of these studies reported any false positives.

The exact number of patients with suppression in most of these studies are unknown since grading scales were used and therefore sensitivity and confidence intervals cannot be calculated.

Using routine EEG, only one surviving non-TTM-treated patient with background amplitudes between 10 and $20\mu V$ beyond 24 hours after ROSC that recovered consciousness has been reported⁹⁶.

TTM-treated patients

Six small routine EEG studies that used TTM on most patients were found¹⁰⁹⁻¹¹⁴. In total 163 TTM-treated and 57 non-TTM-treated patients were included and the presence of low amplitude EEGs were reported, but in neither of these studies was the evaluation of routine EEG background the primary purpose of research. Five of these studies reported in total 54 patients with low voltage or isoelectric EEGs and all had a poor outcome^{109,110,112-114}. The sixth study reported 10 patients with low amplitude EEGs of whom one patient had a good outcome (CPC1-2) but whether the amplitudes were <10µV or between 10 and 20µV was not reported¹¹¹.

In addition, one large routine EEG study based on reviews of EEG-reports with the aim of retrospectively classifying the EEGs according to the recent ACNS terminology included 166 TTM-treated and 53 non-TTM-treated patients and reported 26 patients with suppressed background and all had a poor outcome¹¹⁵.

Low-voltage EEG in TTM-treated patients was also explored using cEEG monitoring (see separate section below).

Summary (suppressed or low-voltage routine EEG)

To our knowledge there has been no patients, TTM-treated or not, surviving with good outcome with generalized suppression below $10\mu V$ in a full-lead (>16 channels) normothermic recording of good quality at a time point beyond 24 hours after CA and free of significant metabolic or pharmacological influence.

However, it is important to observe that there are survivors with a suppressed EEG during the first 24 hours after CA or when simplified electrode-montages were used even after that time point, which is further described in the section on cEEG monitoring below.

In addition to anoxic-ischemic injury the EEG amplitudes may be affected by sedation, technical factors and individual patient factors³⁹. In recent guidelines it was suggested against using low-voltage EEG for prognostication due to this possibility of interference³⁶.

Interpretation of a low-voltage EEG can also be especially complicated by artefacts, and the use of muscle relaxants in mechanically ventilated comatose patients is often helpful.

Additional studies using routine EEG, especially in TTM-treated patients, are needed to establish if a suppressed background according to the ACNS terminology reliably predict a poor outcome.

Burst-suppression or discontinuous background

The second phase of electrophysiological recovery according to Jørgensen is a discontinuous intermittent cortical activity with bursts of cortical activity alternating with periods of suppression⁷³.

The ACNS terminology states that in burst-suppression the suppression periods must constitute >50% of the recording. If suppression periods constitute 10-49% the definition of discontinuous background is fulfilled and if they constitute <10% the term nearly continuous background should be used.

The definitions of burst-suppression vary considerably between studies both regarding burst criteria and suppression criteria. The most liberal definitions of burst-suppression include patterns with occasional periods of suppression with duration of one second without any criteria for the bursts. Such a pattern could even be classified as a nearly continuous background according to the ACNS terminology.

Non-TTM-treated patients

When considering all studies in which the authors claimed to encounter burstsuppression, 13 routine EEG studies on non-TTM-treated patients were found^{100-102,104,105,116-123}. One of these studies reported an FPR of 5% (95%CI 0-26) due to a single false positive patient with burst-suppression between 24 and 48 hours after CA who survived, but neurological function was not reported¹⁰⁵. In another one of these studies two patients with burst-suppression between 24 and 72 hours had a good outcome (CPC 1-2 at 3 months) resulting in an FPR of 29% (95%CI 4-71)¹¹⁶. The remaining 11 studies reported no false positives^{100-102,104,117-123}.

An additional four routine EEG studies on non-TTM-treated patients were found, which did not use the term burst-suppression but instead reported backgrounds with suppression periods lasting >1 second^{52,99,103,108}. Three studies^{52,99,103} reported no false positives and the fourth study¹⁰⁸ reported two patients with full recovery after CA of non-cardiac cause (respiratory failure and barbiturate intoxication) but it was unclear when the EEGs were recorded.

TTM-treated patients

Eight routine EEG studies that used TTM on most patients were identified^{109-115,124}. In six of these studies burst-suppression patterns were reported in 43 patients and all had a poor outcome^{109-112,114,115}. The remaining two studies reported 22 patients with burst-suppression, of whom one patient had EEG reactivity to stimuli and recovered awareness¹¹³ and one patient was likely affected by low dose fentanyl infusion during recording and had a good long-term outcome (CPC1-2)¹²⁴.

Another routine EEG study included 90 patients with a reactive background during ongoing TTM and reported 11 survivors (CPC1-3) among 20 patients with a discontinuous background during normothermic conditions up to 24 hours after rewarming¹²⁵. Discontinuous background was defined as suppression periods constituting >10% of the recording in concordance with the ACNS terminology.

Summary (burst-suppression or discontinuous routine EEG)

Definitions of burst-suppression were not described or were inconsistent among studies.

No routine EEG studies concluded that burst-suppression could be used to predict poor prognosis during the first 24 hours after CA.

Both in non-TTM-treated and in TTM-treated patients a burst-suppression pattern beyond 24 hours after CA was strongly associated with a poor outcome. However, sporadic survivors with a good outcome and burst-suppression possibly even up to 72 hours after CA were reported, but the definitions used were unclear.

Burst-suppression in TTM-treated patients was also explored using cEEG monitoring (see separate section below).

Alpha-theta-coma pattern

The term alpha-theta-coma pattern has primarily been used in the early routine EEG studies before TTM was introduced. There is no definitive consensus on definitions. Definitions most often include an unreactive background with frequencies within the alpha or theta bands often with the highest amplitudes in the anterior leads (reversed anterior-posterior gradient).

Non-TTM-treated patients

A meta-analysis³⁶ of the presence of an alpha-theta-coma pattern during the first seven days after CA included six studies with non-TTM-treated patients^{103,126-130}. Alpha-theta-coma pattern had a positive predictive value of 88% (95%CI 74-96) and could therefore not reliably predict a poor prognosis.

TTM-treated patients

In recent years two routine EEG studies included 75 TTM-treated and 31 non-TTM-treated patients and reported alpha-theta-coma. In the first study two non-TTM-treated patients had alpha-theta-coma of whom one survived¹¹⁴. In the second study one patient with alpha-theta-coma during ongoing TTM had a good outcome, but all patients with alpha-theta-coma after rewarming had a poor outcome¹³¹.

Unreactive background

The prognostic value of EEG reactivity was first noted in the 1950s¹³² and was later incorporated in EEG grading scales^{118,133}.

Non-TTM-treated patients

In studies of non-TTM-treated patients the prognostic value of reactivity *per se* is difficult to evaluate since reactivity was part of grading scales, and the number of patients with unreactive EEG was not separately reported.

TTM-treated patients

Absence of background reactivity to external stimuli in TTM-treated patients after rewarming was evaluated in nine studies^{49,111,113,131,134-138}, most of them used routine EEGs. In five of these studies all patients with absent reactivity had a poor outcome (CPC3-5) when testing was performed after rewarming^{111,131,136-138}. However, when testing was performed during ongoing TTM four patients with absence of reactivity had a good outcome^{131,137,138}. In the four remaining studies there were in total nine patients that restored awareness and at least seven of them had a good long-term outcome (CPC1-2) despite absence of reactivity after rewarming^{49,113,134,135}.

qEEG analysis

A recent study found only moderate interrater agreement for visual analysis of reactivity between three EEG specialists¹³⁹. Quantification of reactivity using qEEG techniques have shown promising results^{139,140}, but need to be further validated.

cEEG prognostication

Continuous or serial EEG monitoring is likely to provide more reliable prognostic information compared to a single routine EEG¹⁴¹, but this has not been proven. In addition, cEEG is used to identify potentially treatable conditions such as electrographic seizures.

When assessing the prognostic value of cEEG it is of profound importance to take the evolution of EEG during the first days after CA into account.

According to the hypothesis of Jørgensen, electrophysiological recovery starts with suppression, followed by a discontinuous background and thereafter a continuous background appears before the patient regains consciousness⁷³.

Background predictors of good outcome

The first cEEG study in TTM-treated patients by Rundgren and colleagues showed that an early debut of a continuous background during ongoing TTM is a strong predictor of a good outcome⁸⁵ and similar findings have been shown in several cEEG studies^{131,134,137,142-146}.

Another early predictor of good outcome is a reactive background to external stimuli. A prospective study of 34 patients found EEG reactivity during TTM in all 19 surviving patients and the majority of them had a good outcome (CPC1-2)¹⁴⁷.

Background predictors of poor outcome

Inconsistent definitions

Definitions of discontinuous, burst-suppression, low-voltage and suppression varied among the studies. Only two studies^{134,148} reported EEG patterns according to the ACNS terminology.

Depending on the definitions used a low-voltage, suppressed, discontinuous or burst-suppression background during TTM was not invariably associated with a poor outcome. Instead, a large fraction of good outcome patients had these patterns, especially early during TTM^{85,134,144,146,148,149}.

Suppressed or low-voltage background

In two studies using strict definitions and multichannel cEEG monitoring, a low-voltage background ($<20\mu$ V) 24 hours after CA during ongoing TTM and sedation had 100% specificity to predict a poor outcome^{134,144}, but these findings need to be validated in future studies.

In other studies using simplified montages a low-voltage or suppressed background was not invariably predictive of a poor outcome, even beyond 24 hours¹⁴⁶. This can be explained by the inherent definition of the term generalized suppression, which states that the entire record consists of suppression in all channels using a multichannel montage. In conclusion, when encountering a low-voltage or suppressed background using a simplified montage, especially if the signal-noise-ratio is not optimal, confirmation of generalized suppression for reliable prognostication necessitates a multichannel EEG including testing of reactivity.

Burst-suppression or discontinuous background

Ten studies reported burst-suppression or discontinuous backgrounds during ongoing TTM, but with inconsistent definitions^{85,131,134,137,142,144,146,148-150}. Six of these studies reported in total 36 survivors with burst-suppression at one point during TTM and a good outcome^{131,137,142,144,146,150}. In the remaining four studies all patients with a burst-suppression at any time had a poor outcome^{85,134,148,149}. The definitions of burst-suppression in the latter four studies were somewhat more conservative compared to the former six studies.

qEEG indices

Several simplified qEEG indices that were originally developed to assess depth of anaesthesia have been explored as prognostic tools after CA.

Six studies using bispectral index (BIS) on TTM-treated patients reported significantly higher BIS values in the good outcome group compared to the poor outcome group¹⁵¹⁻¹⁵⁶. A BIS value of ≤ 6 , corresponding to a suppressed or low-voltage EEG, at some point during TTM was strongly but not invariably associated with a poor outcome^{151-153,156}.

Three studies using suppression-ratio (degree of discontinuity) on TTM-treated patients reported significantly lower suppression-ratios in patients with good outcome compared to patients with poor outcome^{142,155,156}. One of these studies reported a specificity of 100% to predict a poor outcome for suppression-ratio \geq 22% at 48 hours after CA¹⁴². This latter study also reported significant differences in two kinds of entropy measurements comparing the two outcome groups¹⁴².

Snap shots or trends?

cEEG monitoring generates vast amounts of EEG data and the specific data that is reported varies among studies. For instance, whether the best⁸⁵, worst¹³¹ or dominating background patterns are reported during a certain time period varies, or the strategy for choosing is not reported. Also the duration of the evaluated time periods around each reported time point varies from a few minutes¹⁴⁴ to several hours⁸⁵. Choosing the best background pattern over a longer period would probably be less affected by fluctuations in sedation, amount of artefacts, etc.

Summary (cEEG background predictors of poor outcome)

After rewarming and weaning of sedation corresponding to approximately 48 hours after CA, generalized suppression and burst-suppression are strongly associated with a poor outcome in studies using cEEG with or without TTM-treatment^{131,134,137,143,148}. Residual sedation was affecting all false positives with burst-suppression in one study¹⁵⁰. A liberally defined burst-suppression pattern or

even a suppressed background during ongoing TTM and sedation should not be considered a highly malignant sign. Further research is needed to investigate if "malignant burst-suppression patterns" could be strictly defined during ongoing TTM and sedation.

Malignant bursts

Several studies report that if certain malignant features accompany a burstsuppression pattern the reliability to predict a poor outcome increases and prognostication can possibly be performed even during ongoing TTM.

Identical bursts

A malignant feature that seems very promising is identical bursts, defined as identical shapes of the initial part (500ms) of subsequent burst in a burst-suppression pattern.

Several recent studies from two separate research groups explored the prognostic significance of a strictly defined burst-suppression with identical bursts and reported no false positives in two relatively large cohorts^{134,144,157,158}. One of these studies also reported that half of their patients with burst-suppression with identical bursts also had myoclonus time-locked to the bursts¹³⁴.

Burst-suppression with identical bursts appeared at a median of 12 hours (range 3-23) after CA. It was always a transient pattern and evolved into less specific patterns at a median of 36 hours (range 15-53) after CA. Therefore, cEEG monitoring during the first two days after CA is the most reasonable method to detect the pattern. Interrater agreement for identifying identical bursts between two interpreters from the same group was substantial. Further, a quantitative measurement to assess the degree of burst shape similarity, with defined cut-off values, was developed to further enhance reliability¹⁵⁸.

When comparing burst-suppression with identical bursts after CA to burstsuppression without identical bursts, in EEGs deriving mainly from anesthetized patients, there were several differences. The identical bursts were more often synchronous (100% versus 64%), of higher maximum amplitudes (128 versus 25 μ V), suppression periods were always totally suppressed and all transitions between bursts and suppression periods were abrupt¹⁵⁸. Some of these latter characteristics, for instance high-voltage bursts, have been used in the definition of burst-suppression by other groups that reported a relatively high specificity to predict a poor outcome even during ongoing TTM^{146,149,159}, but the new concept of identical bursts seems to be a more reliable predictor.

Epileptiform bursts

A burst-suppression with generalized epileptiform activity has been proposed to be strongly associated with poor outcome in non-TTM-treated patients⁵³, but the phenomenon has often been evaluated as part of grading scales and not in isolation^{118,122,123}.

In burst-suppression induced by commonly used sedatives sharp components are often seen. When using anesthesia with gas (sevoflurane) even epileptiform activity has been described in healthy subjects¹⁴². Further, periodic epileptiform discharges have also been reported when lowering the body temperature just below the range commonly used in TTM⁷⁷. These factors do not likely affect the prognostic significance of a burst-suppression with clear epileptiform activity after CA but this has to be explored further in TTM-treated patients.

Bursts time-locked to myoclonus

The clinical entity of myoclonus can appear together with various EEG patterns, but most often a burst-suppression pattern¹¹⁹.

Burst-suppression with bursts appearing time-locked to clinical myoclonus, observed on video or by concomitant muscle artefacts, has been reported to be strongly associated with a poor outcome with no false positives reported^{134,143,150,160}. If ongoing for >30 minutes some authors term this phenomenon myoclonic status epilepticus^{150,160}, even during burst-suppression when unequivocal electrographic seizure activity is lacking, and reported no false positives. Other groups avoid the term myoclonic status epilepticus¹⁵⁹.

Electrographic discharges

Electrographic discharges after CA, ranging from sporadic epileptiform discharges to unequivocal electrographic status epilepticus, have been explored in several studies, most of them used cEEG monitoring.

Lowering the body temperature during TTM has antiepileptic effects *per se*^{161,162}. In addition, the sedation used during TTM also has clear antiepileptic effects. Still epileptiform discharges and even electrographic seizure activity may occur during TTM.

Clinical correlate

Clinical convulsions, regardless of EEG correlates, are found in approximately one third of post CA patients³⁵. Nonconvulsive seizures occurred in 19% of patients in a large heterogeneous cohort of critically ill patients with different aetiologies¹⁶³.
This is in line with studies on TTM-treated CA patients monitored with cEEG that found nonconvulsive seizures in 9-30%^{131,164,165}. These studies reported that most electrographic seizures were nonconvulsive whereas other studies reported the opposite^{85,166}. Differences in electro-clinical correlates may partly be explained by differences in protocols regarding sedation and neuromuscular blockade.

Inconsistent definitions

The prognostic significance of epileptiform activity and electrographic seizure activity has been explored in several studies after CA. However, definitions were inconsistent among the studies. This is not surprising since there is no universally accepted electrographic definition of seizure activity. For research purposes ACNS proposed criteria for unequivocal seizure activity, but states that a pattern not fulfilling these strict criteria still may or may not represent seizure activity in a given patient⁵⁷.

Electrographic status epilepticus and periodic discharges

In TTM-treated and non-TTM-treated comatose post CA patients the presence of electrographic status epilepticus (ESE), regardless of using conservative ("prolonged unequivocal seizure activity") or liberal ("abundant repetitive epileptiform activity or periodic discharges") definitions is strongly but not invariably associated with poor outcome in both routine EEG studies^{111,115,136,167-171} and cEEG studies^{85,142,160,164,166,172,173}.

Using multivariate analyses ESE has been proposed as an independent predictor of poor prognosis¹⁶⁷. Periodic discharges have also been reported to be an independent predictor of poor prognosis in patients with diverse acute brain illnesses^{174,175}.

It is controversial whether periodic discharges in CA patients may represent ongoing seizure activity and the pattern does not fulfill unequivocal seizure criteria according to the ACNS terminology. Since these patterns can be ictal, postictal, interictal or simply a marker of severe encephalopathy and their exact significance is poorly understood the term ictal-interictal continuum has been used¹⁷⁶.

Using mathematical models it has been hypothesized that periodic discharges might be generated by selective vulnerability of inhibitory cortical interneurons to ischemic damage leading to disinhibition and pathological synchronization of cortical pyramidal neurons¹⁷⁷.

Treatment strategies for status epilepticus vary considerably between institutions and prognosis is dependent on the underlying etiology¹⁷⁸. This is particularly true in the postanoxic situation where consensus on definitions and treatments for ESE are lacking and prognosis is dependent on the extent of brain injury.

Characteristics of surviving ESE patients

Several patients with ESE and eventual good outcome have been reported. These patients had ESE debuting after rewarming. During ongoing ESE other favourable signs in the EEG, clinical examination or in other prognostic tools were found. Examples of favourable signs in this context are preserved EEG reactivity to stimuli, preserved brain stem reflexes, low levels of biochemical markers of brain injury, i.e. neuron specific enolase, and preserved N20-potentials on median nerve SSEP^{173,179,180}. Two studies reporting ESE in the absence of EEG reactivity to stimuli reported a poor outcome for all their patients^{166,179}. In other words lack of ominous signs that indicate an extensive brain injury in the multimodal assessment may be the strategy to identify ESE patients with a chance of a good recovery¹⁸¹.

Summary (electrographic discharges)

Further studies are needed to investigate epileptiform activity after CA according to the ACNS EEG terminology and its relation to clinical convulsion and prognosis and whether treatment is beneficial. It seems clear that electrographic seizures provides prognostic information but the most crucial questions are whether electrographic seizures are an epiphenomenon after CA or if they *per se* significantly contribute to impaired consciousness or brain injury and thereby worsening outcome?¹⁶³. Using multimodality brain monitoring might answer these questions. A recent case report demonstrated dramatic reductions in brain tissue oxygen tension and increase in cerebral blood flow time-locked to postanoxic electrographic seizures¹⁸². Further studies using multimodality monitoring are needed as well as controlled randomized trials.

Aims of the thesis

This thesis is focused on the prognostic value of EEG in comatose patients resuscitated after cardiac arrest who received TTM. The specific aims are:

- To evaluate EEG patterns at different time points in relation to outcome using simplified cEEG monitoring (paper I).
- To plan and describe the study design for the evaluation of routine EEGs in the TTM trial (paper II).
- To investigate inter- and intrarater variability of routine EEG patterns (paper III).
- To evaluate if a highly malignant EEG (suppression without discharges, suppression with continuous periodic discharges or burst-suppression) after rewarming is always associated with a poor outcome (paper IV).
- To evaluate the prognostic value of a malignant EEG (abundant periodic discharges, abundant rhythmic discharges, unequivocal seizure, discontinuous background, low-voltage background, reversed anterior-posterior gradient or unreactive background) and a benign EEG (absence of all malignant features) after rewarming (paper IV).
- To describe if there are any significant differences in prognostic value of routine EEG patterns after rewarming comparing patients who received TTM at 33°C and 36°C (paper IV).
- To describe if there are any significant differences in prognostic value of routine EEG patterns after rewarming comparing patients with and without ongoing sedation during EEG recording (paper IV).

Methods

The studies of this thesis are based on two patient cohorts included during different time periods, the coma project 2004-2008 and the TTM trial 2010-2013.



Figure 6. Study design

Simplified continuous EEG monitoring was performed in the coma project. A routine EEG was included in the protocol in the TTM trial.

Simplified cEEG study within the coma project (Paper I)

Background

TTM was introduced in southern Sweden 2002-2003 and all patients were prospectively evaluated in the multidisciplinary "coma project".

In 2004 simplified cEEG monitoring was introduced in the general ICU at Skane university hospital in Lund for TTM-treated patients. Consecutive patients from January 2004 until January 2008 were included in the simplified cEEG study (paper I).

Protocol

The study was approved by the ethics committee at Lund University.

After ROSC adult patients with sustained coma regardless of location and cause of CA or presenting rhythm were considered for TTM.

Eligible patients received cardiac angiography. In the ICU, the patients received mechanical ventilation, sedation (propofol or midazolam and fentanyl) and intermittent muscle relaxation.

TTM was induced with cold saline followed by use of an external or intravenous cooling system. Body temperature was maintained at 33°C for 24 hours followed by controlled rewarming over 8 hours. Sedation was reduced or stopped at the time point when normothermia was resumed. Treatment of clinically visible convulsions was recommended.

Active intensive care was continued at least until prognostication 72 hours after rewarming, which included neurological examination, median nerve SSEP and in selected cases brain MRI and routine EEG. WLST was allowed for GCS motor 1-2 or bilateral absence of N20 potentials. In patients not fulfilling these criteria intensive care was continued and WLST performed in the absence of improvements.

Patients were assessed using the CPC scale at discharge and at follow-up at six months. Primary outcome measures were return of consciousness during hospital stay and secondary measures were CPC grade at six months.

cEEG study design

On arrival to the ICU simplified cEEG monitoring was applied by the nursing staff using subcutaneous needle electrodes. Both the original EEG and the aEEG trends were displayed as two bipolar channels (C3-P3, C4-P4). The simplified montage is shown in figure 7. In the initial 34 patients (pilot study) the EEG data was blinded to the attending physician but thereafter an EEG specialist reported back once daily.



Figure 7. Simplified electrode montage used in paper I.

In the pilot study of 34 patients the aEEG levels were primarily used to define the patterns⁸⁵. In the present study the original EEG traces was used to define the patterns and aEEG was only used to support interpretation over long periods and therefore the term simplified cEEG monitoring is used in this thesis.

The EEG patterns were defined from the original EEG and categorized into four patterns:

- Flat (extremely low-voltage background $<10\mu$ V)
- Burst-suppression (high-voltage $>50\mu$ V bursts of slow waves with sharp transients interrupted by suppression periods $<10\mu$ V with duration >1 sec)
- Continuous background
- Electrographic status epilepticus (repetitive epileptiform activity ≥1Hz recurrent or continuously for >30 minutes)

Whether ESE evolved from a continuous background or burst-suppression was determined (figure 8 and 9).

The cEEG data was retrieved to a database.

An EEG specialist blinded to clinical data evaluated the EEG patterns at the start of registration, at the time point of normothermia and 24 hours after normothermia. The whole monitoring period was screened for occurrence of ESE.



Figure 8. ESE from continuous background

Repetitive epileptiform discharges (≥1 Hz, >30 minutes) (time point B) consistent with electrographic status epilepticus (ESE) evolving from a continuous background (time point A). The original EEG traces are seen in the lower panels at a time scale of 1 second per division. The amplitude integrated EEG trend curves in the upper panels present an overview of 4 hours.



Figure 9. ESE from burst-suppression

Repeated unequivocal electrographic seizures >30 minutes (time point B) consistent with electrographic status epilepticus (ESE) evolving from a burst-suppression background (time point A).

Statistical methods

Fischer exact test was used to compare frequencies of categorical data. The Man-Whitney U test was used to test differences in start time (continuous data) of ESE between the two types of ESE. Predictive values were calculated for the EEG patterns at different time points.

Routine EEG study within the TTM trial (Paper II-IV)

Background

The Target Temperature Management trial (TTM trial) was an international clinical trial that randomized 950 comatose CA patients from November 2010 to January 2013 to a controlled temperature of 33°C or 36°C and found no significant differences in mortality or neurological outcome between the two groups³⁵.

Protocol

The TTM trial protocol¹⁸³ was approved by ethics committees in all participating institutions.

After ROSC adult patients with sustained coma after out-of-hospital CA of presumed cardiac cause regardless of presenting rhythm were randomized to target temperature 33° C or $36 \, ^{\circ}$ for 24 hours followed by 8 hours of controlled rewarming to 37° C. Apart from level of controlled temperature the intensive care protocol was similar to that described above in the coma project.

Prognostication and WLST in the TTM trial were protocolized. At 72 hours after rewarming a physician blinded to the level of target temperature performed a neurological evaluation. Criteria that allowed WLST at this time point were persisting deep coma (GCS motor 1-2) combined with either bilateral absence of N20-potentials on median nerve SSEP or a treatment refractory status epilepticus. In addition, a clinical finding of status myoclonus during the first day in combination with bilateral absence of N20-potentials after rewarming allowed WLST. In patients not fulfilling these criteria intensive care was prolonged and patients were re-evaluated daily. The local EEG report was not blinded to the treating team. Survivors were assessed with the CPC scale during hospital stay, at discharge and at follow up at six months. In the EEG study a poor neurological outcome was defined as a best achieved CPC of 3-5.

Routine EEG study design

The rationale and study design of the evaluation of routine EEGs in the TTM trial is described in detail in paper II.

In the TTM trial a routine EEG was performed according to the protocol in patients who were still comatose 12-36 hours after rewarming, corresponding to approximately 48-72 hours after CA. All 36 TTM sites performed routine EEGs.

The EEGs were retrieved to a central database.

For paper III and IV all patients from eight selected TTM sites were included since these sites were able to export EEG data that allowed assessment of reactivity to external stimuli. Patients that died or awoke before the recommended time point of EEG were excluded. The routine EEGs were full-length (> 20 minutes) and at least 16 EEG channels were used.

Four EEG specialists from different European countries, blinded to clinical data, independently classified the EEGs according to the ACNS EEG terminology using an electronic case report form (eCRF).

The EEGs were classified into:

- Highly malignant EEG (figure 10)
 - Suppression without discharges
 - Suppression with continuous periodic discharges
 - o Burst-suppression with or without discharges
- Malignant EEG
 - Abundant periodic discharges
 - Abundant rhythmic discharges
 - Unequivocal seizure
 - Discontinuous background
 - Low-voltage background
 - Reversed anterior-posterior gradient
 - Unreactive background
- Benign EEG (absence of all malignant features)

The same four EEG specialists interpreted 20 of the EEGs twice, six months apart, for the purpose of assessing intrarater variability.



Figure 10. Highly malignant EEG patterns

(A) Suppressed background (amplitude <10μV, 100% of recording) without discharges. (B) Suppressed background with superimposed continuous periodic discharges. (C) Burst-suppression (periods of suppression with amplitudes <10μV constituting >50% of the recording) without discharges. (D) Burst-suppression with superimposed discharges.

Statistical methods

In paper III, interrater variability was evaluated using Cohen's kappa and percent agreement. Percent agreement was defined as the proportion of the EEGs in which the interpreters reported identical findings, presented as agreement between all four interpreters and as the median of six pairs, formed by the four interpreters. Cohen's kappa were calculated for the agreement within the six pairs and presented as median and range. Unweighted kappa was used for nominal (unordered categorical) variables and weighted kappa for ordinal (rank-ordered) variables. In paper IV, specificity and sensitivity of the patterns to predict a poor outcome were calculated and presented as the mode value for the four interpreters, i.e. the most common pattern reported. For comparisons between temperature groups, sedation and EEG patterns we applied generalized linear mixed models including interpretations from all four EEG specialists.

Results and discussion

Simplified cEEG study (Paper I)

Patient inclusion and characteristics

In total 111 patients received TTM. 16 patients were excluded because of aborted TTM, death before rewarming or no cEEG monitor available.

The remaining 95 patients were included in the EEG analysis. Of these patients 82 (86%) had out-of-hospital CA, 64 (67%) had a cardiac cause of arrest and 57 (60%) had initial shockable rhythm (VF or VT). The median time to ROSC was 20 minutes (IQR 14-30).

Thus, the cohort was heterogeneous regarding initial electrocardiogram rhythm, location and cause of arrest and included a high proportion of consecutive patients.

Outcome

Of the 95 patients 57 regained consciousness (best CPC 1-3) and the remaining 38 patients died without regaining consciousness (best CPC 4).

No patients were in a vegetative state after six months.

Best CPC and regaining of consciousness were reported according to guidelines¹⁸⁴.

Prognostication at start of cEEG

Simplified cEEG monitoring was started at a median of eight hours after CA (IQR 5-14) in the 95 patients.

Early continuous background

At start of monitoring 32 (34%) patients had a continuous background and 29 of these later woke up resulting in a predictive value for regaining consciousness of 91% (CI 75-98). Thus, an early debut of a continuous background during ongoing TTM was strongly associated with recovery of consciousness. This finding was subsequently supported by several other studies^{131,134,137,143-146}.

Early flat background

A flat pattern was seen in 47 (49%) patients and was not predictive of outcome since 26 (55%) of these patients regained consciousness. This observation that a large proportion of patients with a suppressed or low voltage background during the first 12 hours after ROSC had a good outcome is in line with the findings in the pilot study⁸⁵ and other studies using simplified^{142,146} or multichannel $EEG^{73,134,143}$.

Early burst-suppression

An early burst-suppression pattern was seen in 14 (15%) of the patients and all died without regaining consciousness.

The definition of burst-suppression was relatively conservative demanding highvoltage bursts with sharp transients. The small sample size or the definition may explain the differences in outcome compared to other studies, which reported several survivors with good outcome among patients with an early and more liberally defined burst-suppression^{137,142,143}. Other studies using the more conservative definition according to the ACNS EEG terminology also reported poor outcome for all their patients with burst-suppression, even during TTM^{134,148}.

Burst-suppression with identical bursts was recently proposed as a strong predictor of poor prognosis. Whether some of the patients with burst-suppression in the present study had identical bursts was not evaluated. The bursts in our study shared some common characteristics with identical bursts¹⁵⁸, for instance high-voltage and abrupt start from a flat background.

Prognostication at normothermia

Patients were rewarmed over eight hours and normothermia was resumed at a median of 36 hours after CA.

Recovery of a continuous background

After rewarming in total 62 patients had established a continuous background, of whom 54 regained consciousness and the other eight patients who remained unconscious either later developed ESE or had severe confounding factors. Thus debut of a continuous background at any time during TTM, without development of ESE, was still strongly associated with recovery of consciousness and had a predictive value for regaining consciousness of 87% (CI 76-94%).

Failure of electrographic recovery

The remaining 33 patients had flat, burst-suppression or ESE patterns and 30 of them had a poor outcome. Thus absence of a continuous pattern at normothermia was strongly associated with a poor prognosis and had a predictive value for poor outcome of 91% (CI 76-98). However, three patients with a flat pattern at normothermia restored a continuous background during the following day and regained consciousness. The reason for this unexpected finding is unclear. One factor could be residual or ongoing sedation still affecting the patients at normothermia, which can reduce amplitudes. Further, a flat pattern in a simplified montage is not equal to generalized suppression in a multichannel EEG, even if the amplitude thresholds are the same. In the good outcome patients the transition from a flat to a continuous pattern typically occurred over hours and during this transition period a low voltage discontinuous pattern was often seen. One hypothetical explanation for the discrepancy to other studies that reported suppression as a grossly abnormal sign already at 24 hours after CA^{134,144} could be that the surviving patients in our study had a low voltage background, which was interpreted as a flat pattern in the simplified montage, especially if the signalnoise-ratio was not optimal.

Electrographic status epilepticus

The entire monitoring period was screened for ESE and 26 patients (27%) fulfilled the criteria for ESE at any time point. ESE had a predictive value for poor outcome of 92% (CI 75-99).

Two types of ESE

Two types of ESE were identified. One group of patients had ESE that developed from a burst-suppression pattern and all had a poor outcome. Another group of patients developed ESE from an already established continuous background and two of these patients survived with moderate and severe neurological disability at follow-up at six months.

ESE from burst-suppression started significantly earlier than ESE from continuous background (p=0.01) (figure 11). Typically, ESE from burst-suppression was more resistant to treatment and started during ongoing TTM whereas ESE from a continuous background started after rewarming. In both types of ESE there was an increased incidence of ESE around the time point of normothermia. Whether this could be explained by the concomitant withdrawal of sedation or TTM, which both have antiepileptic effect, is unknown.

Clinical convulsions

Clinical convulsions were seen in 25 of the 26 patients with ESE but varied in type, severity, and duration. The correlation in time to ESE was not systematically investigated, since all notations of convulsions were removed before interpretation to avoid bias. In addition to sedation, 22 patients received conventional antiepileptic drugs.

ESE definition

At the time of designing the present study, several criteria for seizure activity had been proposed and there was no consensus in the literature. During nonconvulsive status epilepticus the typical discharge frequency ranges from 1 to 3 Hz¹⁸⁵ and similar findings have been described during convulsive myoclonic status epilepticus¹⁸⁶. Some of the proposed criteria for nonconvulsive electrographic seizures included repetitive epileptiform discharges along the ictal-interictal continuum if electrographic or clinical improvement was seen after treatment¹⁸⁷⁻¹⁸⁹ or if the activity showed typical spatiotemporal evolution and reached 1 Hz^{188,189}. In our pilot study, all patients with ESE also had clinical convulsions. If convulsions are time-locked to electrographic discharges most EEG specialists would regard the discharges as ictal¹⁹⁰.

For the definition of ESE using simplified cEEG in the present study we chose a conservative duration criteria (>30 minutes) but relatively liberal criteria regarding the rate of epileptiform discharges (\geq 1Hz). However, the number of patients with ESE in the present study was similar to other studies^{164-166,179}.

The definition of ESE in the present study included continuously appearing periodic discharges at a rate of 1Hz, which is controversial and is considered a pattern along the ictal-interictal continuum. However, in three recent studies of resuscitated patients frequency thresholds for defining periodic discharges as ESE spanned from 0.5 Hz^{172} to 2.5 Hz^{160} and 3 Hz^{150} .

The proportion of patients that fulfilled unequivocal seizure criteria according to the ACNS EEG terminology⁵⁷ was not assessed in the present study.



Figure 11. Time point of ESE debut.

Debut of electrographic status epilepticus (ESE) in relation to the time point of resumed normothermia at approximately 36 hours after the arrest. ESE that developed from a suppression-burst (SB) background started significantly earlier than ESE that developed from a continuous background. The arrows indicate two surviving patients with ESE.

Strengths and limitations

Strengths of the study are that nearly all consecutive patients were monitored early during TTM and the EEG analysis was performed blinded to outcome with predefined definitions relating to the original EEG traces and thereby increasing transferability of the results.

Limitations of this single center study are that blinding of the treating physician was not performed after the pilot study, video for correlation to convulsions was not available and a simplified montage was used making testing of reactivity impossible. We also acknowledge that some focal electrographic seizures may have been missed using the simplified montage. However, CA patients have a high proportion of periodic or rhythmic patterns with a generalized (86%) field (Paper III).

Simplified cEEG prognostication

In conclusion, simplified cEEG monitoring is easily applied bedside and provides early positive and negative prognostic information and can be used to screen for ESE, which have therapeutic implications.

The main findings were that an early continuous background predicts good outcome. An early ESE developing from burst-suppression predicts poor outcome whereas some patients with a late debut of ESE from a continuous background may survive (figure 12).

An early indication of prognosis is important for planning the patient care, for information to relatives and for deciding when other prognostic tools should be used. For instance an early positive prediction may lead to more aggressive treatment of cardiac or other organ failure. On the other hand an early negative prediction may lead to avoidance of futile invasive procedures and may be used to prepare relatives before the definitive prediction that is performed at least three days after CA, according to recent guidelines³⁶. Our opinion is that simplified or multichannel cEEG is a valuable component in a multimodal strategy to continuously evaluate prognosis and cerebral function after CA^{84,191}.



Figure 12. Simplified cEEG prognostication

An early continuous background predicts good outcome. An early electrographic status epilepticus (ESE) developing from burst-suppression predicts poor outcome whereas some patients with a late debut of ESE from a continuous background may survive.

Routine EEG study (Paper II-IV)

Patient inclusion and characteristics

In total 399 EEGs were performed at the 36 TTM sites. At the eight selected TTM sites 202 patients were randomized in the trial, of whom 22 died and 69 woke before prognostication and were excluded from the EEG study. In eight patients with prolonged coma an EEG was not performed, of whom one was brain dead, two had absent N20-potentials and in five the reason for missing EEG was unclear. The remaining 103 patients had a routine EEG at a median 77 hours (IQR 53-102) after CA and were included in the EEG analysis.

The selection of sites that were able to export EEG data on reactivity limits the power of the study but allows for homogenous high-quality data to test all our hypotheses.

Previous studies of TTM-treated patients have reported that approximately one third of patients are still comatose three days after rewarming corresponding to the time point of prognostication in the TTM trial¹⁸¹. Therefore the proportion of patients that had an EEG in the trial is close to the expected and likely compose a representative cohort of patients eligible to prognostication.

The recommended time point of a prognostic EEG recording was beyond 12 hours after rewarming during office hours. The reason for this choice was that we wanted to avoid recording during ongoing TTM and allow for weaning of sedation that was stopped after rewarming unless needed for intensive care reasons or treatment of ESE. However, we chose to include all EEGs that were performed after rewarming regardless of ongoing sedation in our main analysis and analyzed the effect of sedation on prognostic ability separately.

All of the 103 patients included in the EEG analysis had out-of-hospital CA of presumed cardiac cause and 74 (72%) had initial shockable rhythm (VF or VT). The median time to ROSC was 30 minutes (IQR 21-45). Thus, the cohort was more homogenous compared to the patients included in the previous coma project.

On the day of EEG recording the majority of patients were deeply comatose (median GCS motor 2). During ongoing EEG recording 16 patients (16%) had clinical convulsions, 37 (36%) were sedated and 36 (35%) had antiepileptic medication.

Outcome

Of the 103 patients 76 patients (74%) had a poor outcome (best CPC 3-4).

The exclusion of early awakening patients, with good prognosis¹⁹², explains the high proportion of patients with poor outcome in the present EEG study compared to the main TTM trial³⁵.

Highly malignant EEG

A highly malignant EEG was reported by the majority of the four EEG specialists (mode value) in 38 patients (37%) and all had a poor outcome (table 1). The strength of agreement among the interpreters for identifying a highly malignant EEG was substantial (κ 0.71). Sensitivity varied slightly among the interpreters (mode value 50%, range 33-51) but importantly specificity to predict a poor outcome was 100% for all individual interpreters.

The highly malignant patterns used in this study adhere closely to previously described patterns strongly associated with a poor outcome⁵³.

Malignant EEG

Any malignant feature

A malignant EEG was reported in 89 patients (86%) and was defined as presence of at least one malignant feature and thus also included the highly malignant patterns (table 1). The strength of agreement between the interpreters for identifying a malignant EEG was only moderate (κ 0.42). This interrater variability may in part explain that sensitivity (mode value 99%, range 86-97) and specificity (mode value 48%, range 41-100) to predict poor outcome varied considerably among the EEG specialists.

These findings are important and discourage the use of an isolated malignant feature in prognostication and to support WLST.

Combinations of malignant features

If at least two malignant features from diverse subcategories (malignant periodic or rhythmic patterns; malignant background; unreactive EEG) were present in the same EEG, specificity increased significantly (p<0.001) to 96% (range 85-100), indicating that such combinations may have a prognostic value.

Low-voltage background

Considering the prognostic ability of different background voltage thresholds, the malignant pattern low-voltage background ($<20\mu$ V) had several false positives (specificity 89%, range 70-100) whereas the highly malignant pattern suppressed background ($<10\mu$ V) had no false positives for all four individual interpreters.

This finding is relevant since $20\mu V$ has been used as the threshold for predicting poor outcome in many studies^{53-55,134,157}.

Discontinuous background

Regarding the degree of continuity the malignant pattern discontinuous background had some false positives for two individual interpreters (specificity 100%, range 78-100) while the highly malignant burst-suppression had no false predictions.

Both assessment of voltage and continuity showed substantial interrater agreement among the four interpreters using the standardized definitions of ACNS ($\kappa 0.65$ and $\kappa 0.76$, respectively).

This is important since the most malignant grades used in classification systems after CA rely on assessment of these variables^{118,133}. The diverse prognostic ability of burst-suppression and suppression reported in the literature^{54,55} may in part be explained by diverse or undefined thresholds for voltage and continuity.

Unreactive background

There was only fair interrater agreement for identifying an unreactive EEG (κ 0.26), but the agreement varied considerably between pairs of EEG specialists (range κ 0.14-0.65).

This variation may reflect different traditions for evaluating reactivity in different centers. It is therefore not surprising that the specificity for an unreactive EEG to predict poor outcome varied considerably among the four interpreters (range 48-100%).

More strict definitions, video recordings, exact notations, neuromuscular blockade, automated assessment^{139,140} or standardized stimuli¹²⁵ may possibly increase the reliability of reactivity assessment.

Rhythmic or periodic patterns or unequivocal seizure activity

Ongoing clinical convulsions during the EEG recording were present in 16 patients (16%), mostly myoclonus, and 37 patients (36%) had ongoing sedation.

A malignant periodic or rhythmic pattern was identified with substantial interrater agreement ($\kappa 0.72$) and was present in 33 patients (32%).

Five patients had unequivocal electrographic seizure activity and all had a poor outcome. Interrater agreement for identifying evolving patterns and plus modifiers, which renders the pattern more ictal-appearing⁵⁷, were only slight (κ 0.19 and 0.17, respectively) whereas the interrater agreement for the frequency of periodic or rhythmic patterns, that are included in most definitions of seizure activity, were substantial (κ 0.82).

Abundant periodic discharges were not inevitably associated with a poor outcome for the individual interpreter, but importantly all patients with periodic discharges superimposed on a suppressed background had a poor outcome.

Antiepileptic treatment was not protocolized and not included in the intervention of the trial.

The prognostic significance of occasional discharges was not assessed in the present study. A recent study included critically ill patients with diverse etiologies and used the ACNS terminology and found that prognosis was worse in patients with abundant or continuously appearing periodic discharges compared to a lower prevalence¹⁷⁵.

Benign EEG

A benign EEG, defined as absence of malignant features, was identified with moderate interrater agreement (κ 0.42) in 14 patients (14%). Of these, 13 (93%) had a good outcome. A benign EEG was found in only 1% of the 76 patients with a poor outcome.

This is an important finding since few predictors of a good outcome are available.

Table 1.

Prognostic ability to predict a poor outcome and interrater agreement of highly malignant and malignant patterns

EEG patterns:	n=103 mode value (%)	Sensi- tivity mode value (95%CI)	Speci- ficity mode value (95%Cl)	Speci- ficity range 4 raters	Interrater agreement kappa (κ)
≥1 highly malignant patternª	38 (37%)	50 (39-61)	100 (88-100)	100-100	Substantial κ 0.71
Suppressed background without discharges	19 (18%)	25 (17-36)	100 (88-100)	100-100	-
Suppressed background with continuous periodic discharges	4 (4%)	5 (2-13)	100 (88-100)	100-100	-
Burst-Suppression (suppression >50%)	15 (15%)	20 (12-30)	100 (88-100)	100-100	-
≥1 malignant feature ^ь	89 (86%)	99 (93-100)	48 (31-66)	41-100	Moderate κ 0.42
≥2 malignant features°	59 (57%)	76 (66-85)	96 (82-99)	85-100	-
Malignant periodic or rhythmic pattern	33 (32%)	43 (33-55)	100 (88-100)	96-100	Substantial κ 0.72
Abundant Periodic discharges	30 (29%)	40 (29-51)	100 (88-100)	96-100	-
Abundant Rhythmic spike-and-wave	4 (4%)	5 (2-13)	100 (88-100)	100-100	-
Unequivocal seizure	5 (5%)	7 (3-15)	100 (88-100)	100-100	-
Malignant background	69 (67%)	82 (71-89)	74 (55-87)	48-100	Moderate κ 0.44
Discontinuous (suppression >10%)	43 (42%)	57 (45-67)	100 (88-100)	78-100	-
Low-voltage	52 (50%)	65 (53-74)	89 (72-96)	70-100	-
Reversed anterior- posterior gradient	12 (12%)	13 (7-23)	93 (77-98)	78-100	-
Unreactive EEG ^d	65 (63%)	88 (78-94)	70 (48-86)	48-100	Fair κ 0.26

^aSuppressed background without discharges; Suppressed background with continuous periodic discharges; Burstsuppression.

^bAbundant periodic discharges; Abundant rhythmic spike-and-wave; Unequivocal seizure; Discontinuous background; Low-voltage background; Reversed anterior-posterior gradient; Unreactive EEG.

^cFrom different malignant subcategories (Malignant periodic or rhythmic patterns; Malignant background; Unreactive EEG) present in the same EEG.

^dReactivity for both pain and sound stimuli was tested in 87 patients.

Level of target temperature

There were no significant differences between patients treated with 33°C compared to 36°C regarding prevalence or prognostic ability of highly malignant or malignant patterns. This is an important finding since questions have been raised whether the evidence from EEG studies before the introduction of TTM can be applied on TTM-treated patients even if the EEG recording was performed after rewarming.

Sedation

In 37 patients (36%) sedation was ongoing during the recording of EEG. The majority of these patients were sedated with propofol. Detailed data on the amount of sedation used was not available. There were no significant differences regarding the prognostic ability of highly malignant or malignant patterns to predict poor outcome comparing patients with ongoing sedation to those without ongoing sedation. The sample size is limited but nonetheless it is an important finding, since residual or ongoing sedation even in small doses often raises the question whether the prognostic information of EEG can be trusted at all.

Strengths and limitations

Strengths of the studies are that EEGs from a prospectively well-described cohort of consecutive patients from eight hospitals in four countries was studied blinded to outcome independently by four EEG specialists with different nationalities without prior collaboration. The rationale and study design were published before the EEG evaluation and a standardized EEG terminology was used. Before prognostic ability was analysed a study on inter- and intrarater variability was performed.

Limitations of the studies were that statistical power was limited by the exclusion of sites that could not export EEG data on reactivity and the exclusion of patients that died or woke up before the protocolized time point of EEG. Regarding prognostic ability, an important limitation was that the local EEG report was available to the treating team and although a treatment refractory status epilepticus was the only EEG criterion that allowed WLST if combined with deep coma the risk of a self-fulfilling prophecy cannot be excluded. On the other hand blinding of the EEGs would lead to a potential risk of missing subtle or nonconvulsive seizures. Regarding interrater variability, the study was not primarily designed and optimized to evaluate this question.

Routine EEG prognostication

In conclusion, routine EEG is generally available and the most common prognostic tool used to complement the clinical examination after CA.

All EEGs in the present study were performed after rewarming and the majority within two to four days after CA. Thus, our findings are representative for this time period only and it is well known that some of our malignant patterns can occur during the early phase of TTM among survivors with good outcome.

A highly malignant routine EEG after rewarming was identified with substantial interrater agreement and reliably predicted poor outcome in half of the patients without false positives for all four interpreters. Our strictly defined highly malignant patterns adhere closely to previously proposed negative predictors and are promising candidates to be incorporated in a multimodal prognostic algorithm.

An isolated finding of a single malignant feature was not a reliable predictor of poor outcome due to lack of specificity and interrater variability and should not be used in decisions on WLST. In this case prognostication primarily has to rely on other tools. However, combinations of at least two malignant features significantly increased specificity to 96% and if verified in another cohort it may be used to indicate a poor prognosis.

Neither the level of controlled temperature nor ongoing sedation in clinically used doses seems to significantly affect prognostic reliability.

If no malignant features were present, i.e. benign EEG, this was a strong predictor of a good outcome, which is an important finding since only few markers of a good prognosis are available.

The finding of a benign EEG can lead to cautiously optimistic information to relatives and be used to plan care and timing of other prognostic tools. For instance in the case of a benign and reactive EEG the patient may be given more time to wake up before additional prognostic procedures such as median nerve SSEP and MRI of the brain are considered, which can save resources in the case of later awakening. If other prognostic tools indicate a poor prognosis, a benign EEG may lead to prolonged observation.

Conclusions

In comatose patients resuscitated after cardiac arrest who received targeted temperature management (TTM):

- Using simplified cEEG a continuous background early during TTM or at normothermia was highly predictive of recovery of consciousness.
- Using simplified cEEG absence of a continuous background at normothermia was highly predictive of continued coma.
- All patients fulfilling our simplified cEEG criteria for electrographic status epilepticus (ESE) evolving from a burst-suppression background died without regaining consciousness, while two patients with ESE evolving from a continuous background regained consciousness.
- ESE evolving from a burst-suppression background started earlier (during hypothermia) than ESE evolving from a continuous background.
- Using standardized interpretation, a highly malignant routine EEG (suppression without discharges, suppression with continuous periodic discharges or burst-suppression) after rewarming was identified with substantial inter- and intrarater agreement and was a reliable predictor of poor outcome in this cohort.
- An isolated malignant routine EEG feature could not predict poor prognosis.
- A benign routine EEG after rewarming was highly predictive of good outcome.
- The prognostic ability of a routine EEG after rewarming was not significantly affected by the level of targeted temperature or ongoing sedation in clinically used doses.

Future directions

Future studies using simplified cEEG should adhere to the ACNS EEG terminology for interpretation of both background and rhythmic and periodic patterns. Standardized patterns at different time points should be correlated to outcome.

Sites performing multichannel cEEG after CA may down-sample the electrode montage to a simplified montage in patients having electrographic seizures to investigate sensitivity and specificity of seizure detection and reliability of prognostication.

The prognostic ability of a highly malignant routine EEG should be confirmed in another larger cohort. This can be done in the remaining patients in the TTM trial that were excluded from the present analysis.

The prognostic value of routine EEG should be compared with simplified cEEG and those two modalities should be compared with routine EEG and simplified cEEG in combination.

Further studies combining EEG with other prognostic tools are warranted.

Swedish summary / Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Hjärt-kärlsjukdom är en av västvärldens stora folksjukdomar. I Sverige drabbas årligen cirka 10 000 personer av plötsligt hjärtstopp. Den vanligaste orsaken är att en akut hjärtinfarkt orsakar ett "elektriskt kaos" i hjärtat. Vid ett hjärtstopp upphör blodförsörjningen till hjärnan, vilket leder till medvetslöshet inom några sekunder och inom några få minuter börjar hjärnan ta skada. Om man får igång hjärtat igen med hjälp av hjärtlungräddning och en hjärtstartare är personen oftast medvetslös. Den medvetslösa patienten förs till en intensivvårdsavdelning för andningsstöd med respirator och annan understödjande behandling. Ungefär hälften av dessa intensivvårdade patienter skrivs ut levande från sjukhuset och flertalet av dessa har inga eller lätta funktionsbortfall.

I syfte att minska hjärnskadan och förbättra överlevnaden sänks patientens kroppstemperatur på ett kontrollerat sätt i 24 timmar. Dock har det funnits en viss osäkerhet kring kylbehandlingens effekt och vilken temperatursänkning som är mest fördelaktig. Därför genomfördes 2010-2013 en ny stor internationell studie, *Target Temperature Management trial* (TTM-studien). Studien kunde inte finna någon skillnad i överlevnad eller neurologisk funktionsnivå mellan patienter som randomiserats till kontrollerad kroppstemperatur vid 33°C jämfört med 36°C.

I ett tidigt skede efter hjärtstoppet är det svårt att avgöra vilken grad av hjärnskada som den medvetslöse patienten har fått. Vissa patienter blir helt återställda medan andra vaknar med varierande grad av hjärnskada. En tredje grupp har en så allvarlig hjärnskada att de aldrig kommer att vakna oavsett behandlingsinsats.

För att tolerera kylbehandlingen behövs sederande läkemedel och ibland muskelavslappnade medel. Detta försvårar den kliniska prognosbedömningen de första dagarna och därför behövs ytterligare prognostiska verktyg.

Electroencefalografi (EEG) är viktig pusselbit i prognosbedömningen efter hjärtstopp och kan även upptäcka "dolda" epileptiska anfall i hjärnan. EEG är en enkel och ofarlig metod för att mäta hjärnans elektriska aktivitet med hjälp av elektroder som fästs på huvudet. Vid ett hjärtstopp släcks hjärnans elektriska aktivitet ut helt inom några sekunder och patienten blir medvetslös. När sedan blodförsörjningen till hjärnan återställts kan man med EEG följa hur hjärnans elektriska aktivitet återkommer. Olika EEG mönster efter hjärtstopp har olika prognostisk betydelse. Dock har värdet av EEG som prognostiskt verktyg begränsats av att flera olika klassifikationssystem använts och av bristande samstämmighet i tolkningen av mönstren mellan olika EEG specialister.

I samarbete mellan klinisk neurofysiologi (EEG-laboratoriet) och intensivvårdsavdelningarna i Skåne har rutiner utvecklats för att registrera förenklat EEG under en längre tid, så kallad kontinuerlig EEG övervakning.

En hjärnskada efter hjärtstopp ökar risken för epileptiska kramper, vilket drabbar cirka en tredjedel av patienterna. Dessa kramper döljs ofta av pågående medicinering och riskerar att förbli obehandlade. Kramperna beror på kaotisk elektrisk aktivitet i hjärnan som kan upptäckas med EEG och behandlas med krampförebyggande läkemedel.

Syftet med denna avhandling är att närmare undersöka det prognostiska värdet av EEG på kylbehandlade medvetslösa patienter efter hjärtstopp. Värdet av både kortvarig rutin EEG registrering samt förenklad kontinuerlig EEG övervakning som pågår i flera dygn har undersökts.

Mellan 2004 och 2008 undersökte vi 95 medvetslösa återupplivade hjärtstoppspatienter med förenklad EEG övervakning vid intensivvårdsavdelningen i Lund. Vi delade in patienterna i olika grupper beroende på hur deras elektriska hjärnaktivitet såg ut. Vi såg att förenklad EEG övervakning var ett kraftfullt verktyg för att tidigt bedöma prognos och för att upptäcka epileptiska kramper.

Som del i TTM-studien (2010-2013) utfördes rutin EEG registreringar på alla patienter som fortfarande var medvetslösa efter kylbehandlingen. Rutin EEG från 103 patienter granskades av fyra EEG specialister från olika Europeiska länder. Nyligen publicerades en standardiserad EEG terminologi av Amerikanska EEG specialister som vi bedömer kommer få stor spridning och acceptans internationellt. Denna terminologi, som inte tidigare använts på hjärtstoppspatienter, användes i vår studie för att klassificera EEG mönstren på ett fördefinierat sätt. Våra höggradigt elakartade EEG mönstren var en stark markör för att förutspå gravt neurologiskt funktionsbortfall eller död. Däremot vaknade nästan alla de patienter som uppvisade ett godartat EEG mönster och de hade inga eller endast lätta funktionsbortfall vid uppföljningen ett halvår senare.

Sammanfattningsvis ger EEG tidig prognostisk information hos medvetslösa patienter efter hjärtstopp, som är viktigt för att kunna planera vården och ge anhöriga korrekt information. Hos alla hjärtstoppspatienter i Sverige övervakas hjärtats elektriska aktivitet med EKG. För oss är det lika självklart att man ska övervaka hjärnans elektriska aktivitet med EEG för att förbättra vården av dessa svårt sjuka patienter.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my gratitude to the all the people around me who in different ways made this dissertation project possible!

First of all to Tobias Cronberg, my tutor, always supporting me and bringing me new challenges! With enthusiasm and encouragement you have taught me that in science no mountains are too high and no valleys are too deep to be crossed, even if the road is slippery, the rain is pouring down and nightfall is closing in. Thank you for all the lunches together with discussions on science and life! I look forward to a sailing trip in Öresund this summer to celebrate that you have put PhD hats on Gisela, Irina and me!

To Ingmar Rosén, my tutor in clinical neurophysiology and in particular simplified cEEG! Your guidance and expertise have been invaluable to the project! Thank you for supporting me a lot in the beginning of the project ten years ago and for letting me try my own wings gradually during this journey! Thank you for all the interesting scientific discussions on the mystery of EEG! Whenever there is a journal club or discussion going on at our department Ingmar comes around to share his wide experience, if he is not sailing in the archipelago in Blekinge.

To Hans Friberg, my co-tutor and guide in intensive care! Thank you for bringing me the perspective of the bedside intensive care physician! Usually I only encounter the ICU environment when reviewing video-EEGs. You have taught me to simplify the message, which is hard for a clinical neurophysiologist. I have become a better scientific writer thanks to your valuable support with the manuscripts. Thank you for all the parties with hats! You, Tobias and Niklas have developed our research group into something really great! Hop on Niklas racing sail boat and join the celebration this summer!

To Eskil Elmér, my tutor during the first year who saved the PhD project and gave me positive energy when my knowledge in InDesign was failing me.

To co-authors and friends in our research group; Malin Rundgren for helping me around in my first scientific project and for the impressive work of recording all the simplified cEEGs; Niklas Nielsen for steering the massive TTM ship and recruiting me as a seaman; Sofia Backman, Irina Dragancea and Gisela Lilja who I have worked closely together with in the "neuro-PhD-team of Tobias" and we have supported each other; And all others in the research group for interesting and enjoyable meetings!

A special thanks to all my colleagues and friends at the department of clinical neurophysiology in Lund/Malmö (see supplement "RS-ID anställda Klinisk neurofysiologi"!!!), for making every day at work a true pleasure and for supporting me in my journey towards my PhD!!!

To Andrea Rossetti, Troels Wesenberg Kjaer and Anne-Fleur van Rootselaar for interpreting all the routine EEGs and for sharing your expertise in the project.

To the co-authors in the TTM steering group and the EEG group of the TTM trial for letting me coordinate the EEG evaluations and for all your help with improving the manuscripts.

To all the TTM sites and EEG laboratories for making this EEG project possible and a special thanks to Copenhagen (Christian Hassager, John-Bro Jeppesen, Jesper Kjaergaard), Amsterdam (Janneke Horn), Linköping (Hans Lindehammar), Lund, Malmö and Helsingborg for including patients in the EEG substudy that will be the next project after my PhD (cliffhanger!).

To Susann Ullén for helping me with the statistics. To Bodil Persson, Ola Åkesson and Anne Adolfsson for helping me prepare the EEGs for analysis. To Gunnar Gunnarson, Lars-Johan Ahnlide, Björn Wallström and Baha Jabbar for technical support. To Bo Jönsson for generously letting me use his nice illustrations.

AND.....

To my beloved wife Johanna for all your love and support!!! Without you this journey would have been impossible! I really look forward to spending the rest of my life with you! This is a special year indeed, ten years ago we drove the Excalibur to the church in Döderhult and got married, ten years ago I started this science project and fourty years ago I was born! I really look forward to celebrating this with you on a paradise island in Thailand!!! I love you!!!

To my wonderful children Jakob and Elias for bringing happiness to my life every day! Sorry for borrowing your iPad to read articles all the time and I look forward to playing a lot more with you when this book is finished!

To my parents Sylvia and Sven for loving me and believing in me! You convinced me to apply for medical school in Lund – "Erik, you will enjoy taking a stroll through the park on the way to the lecture". Thanks for all the short phone calls during the recent months just to check that I was alright!

To my dear parents-in-law Lisbeth and Jan-Åke and my sister-in-law Rebecka and David for love and support! I look forward to the baptism of Bianca this weekend!

To all my friends and relatives in Skåne and north of Hallandsåsen who will join the party tonight!

Financial support

This dissertation project has been made possible by generous grants from:

The European Union Interreg IV A programme, the Swedish Heart and Lung Association, the Skåne University Hospital Foundations, the Gyllenstierna-Krapperup's Foundation, Academy of Caring Sciences at Skåne University Hospital, the Swedish National Health System (ALF), the County Council of Skåne, the Swedish Society of Medicine, the Koch Foundation, the Swedish Heart-Lung Foundation, AFA Insurance Foundation, the Hans-Gabriel and Alice Trolle-Wachtmeister Foundation for medical research, the Segerfalk Foundation, AnnaLisa and S.E. Lundgrens Foundation, Laerdal Foundation and the Tryg Foundation.

We thank the publishers for permitting reprints in this dissertation; Wolter Kluwer Health, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; Elsevier Ireland Ltd; Springer.
References

- 1. Stromsoe A, Afzelius S, Axelsson C, et al. Improvements in logistics could increase survival after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest in Sweden. *J Intern Med* 2013; **273**(6): 622-7.
- 2. Rea TD, Eisenberg MS, Sinibaldi G, White RD. Incidence of EMS-treated out-ofhospital cardiac arrest in the United States. *Resuscitation* 2004; **63**(1): 17-24.
- 3. Atwood C, Eisenberg MS, Herlitz J, Rea TD. Incidence of EMS-treated out-ofhospital cardiac arrest in Europe. *Resuscitation* 2005; **67**(1): 75-80.
- 4. Fothergill RT, Watson LR, Chamberlain D, Virdi GK, Moore FP, Whitbread M. Increases in survival from out-of-hospital cardiac arrest: a five year study. *Resuscitation* 2013; **84**(8): 1089-92.
- 5. Chan PS, McNally B, Tang F, Kellermann A, Group CS. Recent trends in survival from out-of-hospital cardiac arrest in the United States. *Circulation* 2014; **130**(21): 1876-82.
- 6. Daya MR, Schmicker RH, Zive DM, et al. Out-of-hospital cardiac arrest survival improving over time: Results from the Resuscitation Outcomes Consortium (ROC). *Resuscitation* 2015; **91**: 108-15.
- 7. Herlitz J. Svenska hjärt-lungräddningsregistrets årsrapport 2015. Göteborg: Västra Götalandsregionen. 2015.
- 8. Herlitz J, Bang A, Ekstrom L, et al. A comparison between patients suffering inhospital and out-of-hospital cardiac arrest in terms of treatment and outcome. *J Intern Med* 2000; **248**(1): 53-60.
- 9. Laver S, Farrow C, Turner D, Nolan J. Mode of death after admission to an intensive care unit following cardiac arrest. *Intensive care medicine* 2004; **30**(11): 2126-8.
- Herlitz J, Engdahl J, Svensson L, Angquist KA, Young M, Holmberg S. Factors associated with an increased chance of survival among patients suffering from an out-of-hospital cardiac arrest in a national perspective in Sweden. *Am Heart J* 2005; 149(1): 61-6.
- 11. Pell JP, Sirel JM, Marsden AK, Ford I, Walker NL, Cobbe SM. Presentation, management, and outcome of out of hospital cardiopulmonary arrest: comparison by underlying aetiology. *Heart* 2003; **89**(8): 839-42.
- 12. Farb A, Tang AL, Burke AP, Sessums L, Liang Y, Virmani R. Sudden coronary death. Frequency of active coronary lesions, inactive coronary lesions, and myocardial infarction. *Circulation* 1995; **92**(7): 1701-9.
- 13. Engdahl J, Holmberg M, Karlson BW, Luepker R, Herlitz J. The epidemiology of out-of-hospital 'sudden' cardiac arrest. *Resuscitation* 2002; **52**(3): 235-45.
- 14. Cummins RO, Chamberlain DA, Abramson NS, et al. Recommended guidelines for uniform reporting of data from out-of-hospital cardiac arrest: the Utstein Style. Task Force of the American Heart Association, the European Resuscitation Council, the

Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada, and the Australian Resuscitation Council. *Ann Emerg Med* 1991; **20**(8): 861-74.

- 15. Oddo M, Ribordy V, Feihl F, et al. Early predictors of outcome in comatose survivors of ventricular fibrillation and non-ventricular fibrillation cardiac arrest treated with hypothermia: a prospective study. *Critical care medicine* 2008; **36**(8): 2296-301.
- Rogove HJ, Safar P, Sutton-Tyrrell K, Abramson NS. Old age does not negate good cerebral outcome after cardiopulmonary resuscitation: analyses from the brain resuscitation clinical trials. The Brain Resuscitation Clinical Trial I and II Study Groups. *Critical care medicine* 1995; 23(1): 18-25.
- 17. Nielsen N, Hovdenes J, Nilsson F, et al. Outcome, timing and adverse events in therapeutic hypothermia after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand* 2009; **53**(7): 926-34.
- 18. Dragancea I, Rundgren M, Englund E, Friberg H, Cronberg T. The influence of induced hypothermia and delayed prognostication on the mode of death after cardiac arrest. *Resuscitation* 2013; **84**(3): 337-42.
- 19. Wagner SRt, Lanier WL. Metabolism of glucose, glycogen, and high-energy phosphates during complete cerebral ischemia. A comparison of normoglycemic, chronically hyperglycemic diabetic, and acutely hyperglycemic nondiabetic rats. *Anesthesiology* 1994; **81**(6): 1516-26.
- 20. Katsura K, Rodriguez de Turco EB, Folbergrova J, Bazan NG, Siesjo BK. Coupling among energy failure, loss of ion homeostasis, and phospholipase A2 and C activation during ischemia. *J Neurochem* 1993; **61**(5): 1677-84.
- 21. Miller JR, Myers RE. Neuropathology of systemic circulatory arrest in adult monkeys. *Neurology* 1972; **22**(9): 888-904.
- 22. Siesjo BK. Brain energy metabolism and catecholaminergic activity in hypoxia, hypercapnia and ischemia. *J Neural Transm Suppl* 1978; (14): 17-22.
- 23. Mangus DB, Huang L, Applegate PM, Gatling JW, Zhang J, Applegate RL, 2nd. A systematic review of neuroprotective strategies after cardiac arrest: from bench to bedside (Part I Protection via specific pathways). *Med Gas Res* 2014; 4: 9.
- Kass IS, Lipton P. Calcium and long-term transmission damage following anoxia in dentate gyrus and CA1 regions of the rat hippocampal slice. *J Physiol* 1986; **378**: 313-34.
- 25. Goll DE, Thompson VF, Li H, Wei W, Cong J. The calpain system. *Physiol Rev* 2003; **83**(3): 731-801.
- 26. Piantadosi CA, Zhang J. Mitochondrial generation of reactive oxygen species after brain ischemia in the rat. *Stroke* 1996; **27**(2): 327-31; discussion 32.
- Endoh M, Maiese K, Wagner J. Expression of the inducible form of nitric oxide synthase by reactive astrocytes after transient global ischemia. *Brain Res* 1994; 651(1-2): 92-100.
- 28. Bickler PE, Hansen BM. Causes of calcium accumulation in rat cortical brain slices during hypoxia and ischemia: role of ion channels and membrane damage. *Brain Res* 1994; **665**(2): 269-76.

- 29. Carney JM, Floyd RA. Protection against oxidative damage to CNS by alpha-phenyltert-butyl nitrone (PBN) and other spin-trapping agents: a novel series of nonlipid free radical scavengers. *J Mol Neurosci* 1991; **3**(1): 47-57.
- 30. Friberg H, Wieloch T. Mitochondrial permeability transition in acute neurodegeneration. *Biochimie* 2002; **84**(2-3): 241-50.
- 31. Hoesch RE, Geocadin RG. Therapeutic hypothermia for global and focal ischemic brain injury--a cool way to improve neurologic outcomes. *Neurologist* 2007; **13**(6): 331-42.
- 32. Leonov Y, Sterz F, Safar P, et al. Mild cerebral hypothermia during and after cardiac arrest improves neurologic outcome in dogs. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 1990; **10**(1): 57-70.
- 33. Hypothermia after Cardiac Arrest Study G. Mild therapeutic hypothermia to improve the neurologic outcome after cardiac arrest. *The New England journal of medicine* 2002; **346**(8): 549-56.
- 34. Bernard SA, Gray TW, Buist MD, et al. Treatment of comatose survivors of out-ofhospital cardiac arrest with induced hypothermia. *The New England journal of medicine* 2002; **346**(8): 557-63.
- 35. Nielsen N, Wetterslev J, Cronberg T, et al. Targeted temperature management at 33 degrees C versus 36 degrees C after cardiac arrest. *The New England journal of medicine* 2013; **369**(23): 2197-206.
- Callaway CW, Soar J, Aibiki M, et al. Part 4: Advanced Life Support: 2015 International Consensus on Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care Science With Treatment Recommendations. *Circulation* 2015; 132(16 Suppl 1): S84-145.
- 37. Neumar RW, Nolan JP, Adrie C, et al. Post-cardiac arrest syndrome: epidemiology, pathophysiology, treatment, and prognostication. A consensus statement from the International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation (American Heart Association, Australian and New Zealand Council on Resuscitation, European Resuscitation Council, Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada, InterAmerican Heart Foundation, Resuscitation Council of Asia, and the Resuscitation Council of Southern Africa); the American Heart Association Emergency Cardiovascular Care Committee; the Council on Cardiovascular Surgery and Anesthesia; the Council on Clinical Cardiology; and the Stroke Council. *Circulation* 2008; **118**(23): 2452-83.
- 38. Adrie C, Adib-Conquy M, Laurent I, et al. Successful cardiopulmonary resuscitation after cardiac arrest as a "sepsis-like" syndrome. *Circulation* 2002; **106**(5): 562-8.
- Sandroni C, Cariou A, Cavallaro F, et al. Prognostication in comatose survivors of cardiac arrest: an advisory statement from the European Resuscitation Council and the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine. *Intensive care medicine* 2014; 40(12): 1816-31.
- 40. Busl KM, Greer DM. Hypoxic-ischemic brain injury: pathophysiology, neuropathology and mechanisms. *NeuroRehabilitation* 2010; **26**(1): 5-13.

- 41. Kawai K, Nitecka L, Ruetzler CA, et al. Global cerebral ischemia associated with cardiac arrest in the rat: I. Dynamics of early neuronal changes. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 1992; **12**(2): 238-49.
- 42. Plum F, Posner JB, Hain RF. Delayed neurological deterioration after anoxia. *Arch Intern Med* 1962; **110**: 18-25.
- 43. Pulsinelli WA, Brierley JB, Plum F. Temporal profile of neuronal damage in a model of transient forebrain ischemia. *Annals of neurology* 1982; **11**(5): 491-8.
- Howell K, Grill E, Klein AM, Straube A, Bender A. Rehabilitation outcome of anoxic-ischaemic encephalopathy survivors with prolonged disorders of consciousness. *Resuscitation* 2013; 84(10): 1409-15.
- 45. Perman SM, Merchant RM. Mild-induced hypothermia and neuroprognostication following cardiac arrest. *Critical care medicine* 2012; **40**(8): 2538-9.
- 46. Cronberg T, Brizzi M, Liedholm LJ, et al. Neurological prognostication after cardiac arrest--recommendations from the Swedish Resuscitation Council. *Resuscitation* 2013; **84**(7): 867-72.
- 47. Jorgensen EO, Holm S. The natural course of neurological recovery following cardiopulmonary resuscitation. *Resuscitation* 1998; **36**(2): 111-22.
- 48. Langhelle A, Tyvold SS, Lexow K, Hapnes SA, Sunde K, Steen PA. In-hospital factors associated with improved outcome after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. A comparison between four regions in Norway. *Resuscitation* 2003; **56**(3): 247-63.
- 49. Bouwes A, van Poppelen D, Koelman JH, et al. Acute posthypoxic myoclonus after cardiopulmonary resuscitation. *BMC Neurol* 2012; **12**: 63.
- 50. Seder DB, Sunde K, Rubertsson S, et al. Neurologic outcomes and postresuscitation care of patients with myoclonus following cardiac arrest. *Critical care medicine* 2015; **43**(5): 965-72.
- 51. Steriade M, Gloor P, Llinas RR, Lopes de Silva FH, Mesulam MM. Report of IFCN Committee on Basic Mechanisms. Basic mechanisms of cerebral rhythmic activities. *Electroencephalography and clinical neurophysiology* 1990; **76**(6): 481-508.
- 52. Hockaday JM, Potts F, Epstein E, Bonazzi A, Schwab RS. Electroencephalographic Changes in Acute Cerebral Anoxia from Cardiac or Respiratory Arrest. *Electroencephalography and clinical neurophysiology* 1965; **18**: 575-86.
- 53. Wijdicks EF, Hijdra A, Young GB, Bassetti CL, Wiebe S, Quality Standards Subcommittee of the American Academy of N. Practice parameter: prediction of outcome in comatose survivors after cardiopulmonary resuscitation (an evidencebased review): report of the Quality Standards Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. *Neurology* 2006; 67(2): 203-10.
- Sandroni C, Cavallaro F, Callaway CW, et al. Predictors of poor neurological outcome in adult comatose survivors of cardiac arrest: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Part 2: Patients treated with therapeutic hypothermia. *Resuscitation* 2013; 84(10): 1324-38.
- 55. Sandroni C, Cavallaro F, Callaway CW, et al. Predictors of poor neurological outcome in adult comatose survivors of cardiac arrest: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Part 1: patients not treated with therapeutic hypothermia. *Resuscitation* 2013; **84**(10): 1310-23.

- 56. Hirsch LJ, Brenner RP, Drislane FW, et al. The ACNS subcommittee on research terminology for continuous EEG monitoring: proposed standardized terminology for rhythmic and periodic EEG patterns encountered in critically ill patients. *Journal of clinical neurophysiology : official publication of the American Electroencephalographic Society* 2005; 22(2): 128-35.
- 57. Hirsch LJ, LaRoche SM, Gaspard N, et al. American Clinical Neurophysiology Society's Standardized Critical Care EEG Terminology: 2012 version. *Journal of clinical neurophysiology : official publication of the American Electroencephalographic Society* 2013; **30**(1): 1-27.
- 58. Jordan KG. Emergency EEG and continuous EEG monitoring in acute ischemic stroke. *Journal of clinical neurophysiology : official publication of the American Electroencephalographic Society* 2004; **21**(5): 341-52.
- Yashon D, Wagner FC, Jr., Massopust LC, Jr., Wolin LR, White RJ. Electrocortigraphic limits of cerebral viability during cardiac arrest and resuscitation. *Am J Surg* 1971; **121**(6): 728-31.
- Lind B, Snyder J, Safar P. Total brain ischaemia in dogs: cerebral physiological and metabolic changes after 15 minutes of circulatory arrest. *Resuscitation* 1975; 4(2): 97-113.
- 61. Yashon D, White RJ, Taslitz N, Wolin LR, Massopust LC, Jr. Experimental cerebral circulatory arrest: effect on electrocortical potentials. *J Neurosurg* 1970; **32**(1): 74-82.
- 62. Myers RE, Yamaguchi S. Nervous system effects of cardiac arrest in monkeys. Preservation of vision. *Arch Neurol* 1977; **34**(2): 65-74.
- 63. Sherman DL, Brambrink AM, Ichord RN, et al. Quantitative EEG during early recovery from hypoxic-ischemic injury in immature piglets: burst occurrence and duration. *Clinical EEG* 1999; **30**(4): 175-83.
- 64. Rosen I, Smith ML, Rehncrona S. Quantitative EEG and evoked potentials after experimental brain ischemia in the rat; correlation with cerebral metabolism and blood flow. *Prog Brain Res* 1984; **62**: 175-83.
- Siemkowicz E, Hansen AJ. Brain extracellular ion composition and EEG activity following 10 minutes ischemia in normo- and hyperglycemic rats. *Stroke* 1981; 12(2): 236-40.
- Geocadin RG, Sherman DL, Christian Hansen H, et al. Neurological recovery by EEG bursting after resuscitation from cardiac arrest in rats. *Resuscitation* 2002; 55(2): 193-200.
- 67. Luft AR, Buitrago MM, Paul JS, et al. Early restitution of electrocorticogram predicts subsequent behavioral recovery from cardiac arrest. *Journal of clinical neurophysiology : official publication of the American Electroencephalographic Society* 2002; **19**(6): 540-6.
- 68. Hossmann KA, Nagashima G, Klatzo I. Repetitive ischaemia of cat brain: pathophysiological observations. *Neurol Res* 1990; **12**(3): 158-64.
- 69. Henrich-Noack P, Gorkin AG, Reymann KG. Predictive value of changes in electroencephalogram and excitatory postsynaptic field potential for CA1 damage after global ischaemia in rats. *Exp Brain Res* 2007; **181**(1): 79-86.

- 70. Rehncrona S, Rosen I, Smith ML. Effect of different degrees of brain ischemia and tissue lactic acidosis on the short-term recovery of neurophysiologic and metabolic variables. *Exp Neurol* 1985; **87**(3): 458-73.
- 71. Losasso TJ, Muzzi DA, Meyer FB, Sharbrough FW. Electroencephalographic monitoring of cerebral function during asystole and successful cardiopulmonary resuscitation. *Anesth Analg* 1992; **75**(6): 1021-4.
- 72. Clute HL, Levy WJ. Electroencephalographic changes during brief cardiac arrest in humans. *Anesthesiology* 1990; **73**(5): 821-5.
- 73. Jorgensen EO, Malchow-Moller A. Natural history of global and critical brain ischaemia. Part I: EEG and neurological signs during the first year after cardiopulmonary resuscitation in patients subsequently regaining consciousness. *Resuscitation* 1981; **9**(2): 133-53.
- 74. Jorgensen EO, Malchow-Moller A. Natural history of global and critical brain ischaemia. Part II: EEG and neurological signs in patients remaining unconscious after cardiopulmonary resuscitation. *Resuscitation* 1981; **9**(2): 155-74.
- 75. Jorgensen EO, Holm S. Prediction of neurological outcome after cardiopulmonary resuscitation. *Resuscitation* 1999; **41**(2): 145-52.
- 76. Harden A, Pampiglione G, Waterston DJ. Circulatory arrest during hypothermia in cardiac surgery: an E.E.G. study in children. *Br Med J* 1966; **2**(5522): 1105-8.
- 77. Stecker MM, Cheung AT, Pochettino A, et al. Deep hypothermic circulatory arrest: I. Effects of cooling on electroencephalogram and evoked potentials. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2001; **71**(1): 14-21.
- 78. Sessler CN, Grap MJ, Ramsay MA. Evaluating and monitoring analgesia and sedation in the intensive care unit. *Critical care* 2008; **12 Suppl 3**: S2.
- 79. Niedermeyer E, Lopes da Silva FH. Electroencephalography : basic principles, clinical applications, and related fields. 5th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2005.
- 80. Friedman D, Claassen J, Hirsch LJ. Continuous electroencephalogram monitoring in the intensive care unit. *Anesth Analg* 2009; **109**(2): 506-23.
- Crepeau AZ, Fugate JE, Mandrekar J, et al. Value analysis of continuous EEG in patients during therapeutic hypothermia after cardiac arrest. *Resuscitation* 2014; 85(6): 785-9.
- 82. Claassen J, Taccone FS, Horn P, et al. Recommendations on the use of EEG monitoring in critically ill patients: consensus statement from the neurointensive care section of the ESICM. *Intensive care medicine* 2013; **39**(8): 1337-51.
- Peberdy MA, Callaway CW, Neumar RW, et al. Part 9: post-cardiac arrest care: 2010 American Heart Association Guidelines for Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care. *Circulation* 2010; **122**(18 Suppl 3): S768-86.
- 84. Friberg H, Westhall E, Rosen I, Rundgren M, Nielsen N, Cronberg T. Clinical review: Continuous and simplified electroencephalography to monitor brain recovery after cardiac arrest. *Critical care* 2013; **17**(4): 233.

- Rundgren M, Rosen I, Friberg H. Amplitude-integrated EEG (aEEG) predicts outcome after cardiac arrest and induced hypothermia. *Intensive care medicine* 2006; 32(6): 836-42.
- Young GB, Sharpe MD, Savard M, Al Thenayan E, Norton L, Davies-Schinkel C. Seizure detection with a commercially available bedside EEG monitor and the subhairline montage. *Neurocritical care* 2009; 11(3): 411-6.
- 87. Karakis I, Montouris GD, Otis JA, et al. A quick and reliable EEG montage for the detection of seizures in the critical care setting. *Journal of clinical neurophysiology : official publication of the American Electroencephalographic Society* 2010; **27**(2): 100-5.
- 88. Kolls BJ, Husain AM. Assessment of hairline EEG as a screening tool for nonconvulsive status epilepticus. *Epilepsia* 2007; **48**(5): 959-65.
- Rubin MN, Jeffery OJ, Fugate JE, et al. Efficacy of a reduced electroencephalography electrode array for detection of seizures. *Neurohospitalist* 2014; 4(1): 6-8.
- 90. Toet MC, Hellstrom-Westas L, Groenendaal F, Eken P, de Vries LS. Amplitude integrated EEG 3 and 6 hours after birth in full term neonates with hypoxic-ischaemic encephalopathy. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed* 1999; **81**(1): F19-23.
- 91. Rosen I. The physiological basis for continuous electroencephalogram monitoring in the neonate. *Clin Perinatol* 2006; **33**(3): 593-611, v.
- 92. Swisher CB, White CR, Mace BE, et al. Diagnostic Accuracy of Electrographic Seizure Detection by Neurophysiologists and Non-Neurophysiologists in the Adult ICU Using a Panel of Quantitative EEG Trends. *Journal of clinical neurophysiology* : official publication of the American Electroencephalographic Society 2015; **32**(4): 324-30.
- 93. Horn J, Cronberg T, Taccone FS. Prognostication after cardiac arrest. *Curr Opin Crit Care* 2014; **20**(3): 280-6.
- 94. Golan E, Barrett K, Alali AS, et al. Predicting neurologic outcome after targeted temperature management for cardiac arrest: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Critical care medicine* 2014; **42**(8): 1919-30.
- Zandbergen EG, de Haan RJ, Stoutenbeek CP, Koelman JH, Hijdra A. Systematic review of early prediction of poor outcome in anoxic-ischaemic coma. *Lancet* 1998; 352(9143): 1808-12.
- 96. Young GB. The EEG in coma. *Journal of clinical neurophysiology : official publication of the American Electroencephalographic Society* 2000; **17**(5): 473-85.
- 97. Koenig MA, Kaplan PW, Thakor NV. Clinical neurophysiologic monitoring and brain injury from cardiac arrest. *Neurol Clin* 2006; **24**(1): 89-106.
- 98. Friberg H, Cronberg T, Dunser MW, Duranteau J, Horn J, Oddo M. Survey on current practices for neurological prognostication after cardiac arrest. *Resuscitation* 2015; **90**: 158-62.
- 99. Scollo-Lavizzari G, Bassetti C. Prognostic value of EEG in post-anoxic coma after cardiac arrest. *European neurology* 1987; **26**(3): 161-70.

- 100. Bassetti C, Bomio F, Mathis J, Hess CW. Early prognosis in coma after cardiac arrest: a prospective clinical, electrophysiological, and biochemical study of 60 patients. *Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry* 1996; **61**(6): 610-5.
- 101. Rothstein TL, Thomas EM, Sumi SM. Predicting outcome in hypoxic-ischemic coma. A prospective clinical and electrophysiologic study. *Electroencephalography and clinical neurophysiology* 1991; **79**(2): 101-7.
- 102. Zandbergen EG, Hijdra A, Koelman JH, et al. Prediction of poor outcome within the first 3 days of postanoxic coma. *Neurology* 2006; **66**(1): 62-8.
- 103. Edgren E, Hedstrand U, Nordin M, Rydin E, Ronquist G. Prediction of outcome after cardiac arrest. *Critical care medicine* 1987; **15**(9): 820-5.
- Lemmi H, Hubbert CH, Faris AA. The electroencephalogram after resuscitation of cardiocirculatory arrest. *Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry* 1973; 36(6): 997-1002.
- 105. Young GB, Doig G, Ragazzoni A. Anoxic-ischemic encephalopathy: clinical and electrophysiological associations with outcome. *Neurocritical care* 2005; **2**(2): 159-64.
- 106. Prior PF, Scott DF. Outcome after severe brain damage. Lancet 1973; 1(7806): 770.
- 107. Roest A, van Bets B, Jorens PG, Baar I, Weyler J, Mercelis R. The prognostic value of the EEG in postanoxic coma. *Neurocritical care* 2009; **10**(3): 318-25.
- 108. Prior PF. EEG findings in dying and resuscitated adult patients. *Electroencephalography and clinical neurophysiology* 1969; **27**(3): 333.
- 109. Bouwes A, Binnekade JM, Kuiper MA, et al. Prognosis of coma after therapeutic hypothermia: a prospective cohort study. *Annals of neurology* 2012; **71**(2): 206-12.
- 110. Zanatta P, Messerotti Benvenuti S, Baldanzi F, et al. Pain-related somatosensory evoked potentials and functional brain magnetic resonance in the evaluation of neurologic recovery after cardiac arrest: a case study of three patients. *Scandinavian journal of trauma, resuscitation and emergency medicine* 2012; **20**: 22.
- 111. Bisschops LL, van Alfen N, Bons S, van der Hoeven JG, Hoedemaekers CW. Predictors of poor neurologic outcome in patients after cardiac arrest treated with hypothermia: a retrospective study. *Resuscitation* 2011; **82**(6): 696-701.
- 112. Milani P, Malissin I, Tran-Dinh YR, et al. Prognostic EEG patterns in patients resuscitated from cardiac arrest with particular focus on Generalized Periodic Epileptiform Discharges (GPEDs). *Neurophysiol Clin* 2014; **44**(2): 153-64.
- 113. Thenayan EA, Savard M, Sharpe MD, Norton L, Young B. Electroencephalogram for prognosis after cardiac arrest. *Journal of critical care* 2010; **25**(2): 300-4.
- 114. Fugate JE, Wijdicks EF, Mandrekar J, et al. Predictors of neurologic outcome in hypothermia after cardiac arrest. *Annals of neurology* 2010; **68**(6): 907-14.
- 115. Soholm H, Kjaer TW, Kjaergaard J, et al. Prognostic value of electroencephalography (EEG) after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest in successfully resuscitated patients used in daily clinical practice. *Resuscitation* 2014; **85**(11): 1580-5.
- 116. Chen R, Bolton CF, Young B. Prediction of outcome in patients with anoxic coma: a clinical and electrophysiologic study. *Critical care medicine* 1996; **24**(4): 672-8.

- 117. Reeves AL, Westmoreland BF, Klass DW. Clinical accompaniments of the burstsuppression EEG pattern. *Journal of clinical neurophysiology : official publication of the American Electroencephalographic Society* 1997; **14**(2): 150-3.
- 118. Synek VM. EEG abnormality grades and subdivisions of prognostic importance in traumatic and anoxic coma in adults. *Clinical EEG* 1988; **19**(3): 160-6.
- 119. Wijdicks EF, Parisi JE, Sharbrough FW. Prognostic value of myoclonus status in comatose survivors of cardiac arrest. *Annals of neurology* 1994; **35**(2): 239-43.
- 120. Brenner RP, Schwartzman RJ, Richey ET. Prognostic significance of episodic low amplitude or relatively isoelectric EEG patterns. *Dis Nerv Syst* 1975; **36**(10): 582-7.
- 121. Cloche R, Desmonts JM, Hennetier G, Robert F. Morphology and evolution of the EEG in acute cerebral anoxia (42 cases). *Electroencephalography and clinical neurophysiology* 1968; **25**(1): 89.
- 122. Pampiglione G, Harden A. Resuscitation after cardiocirculatory arrest. Prognostic evaluation of early electroencephalographic findings. *Lancet* 1968; 1(7555): 1261-5.
- 123. Young GB, Kreeft JH, McLachlan RS, Demelo J. EEG and clinical associations with mortality in comatose patients in a general intensive care unit. *Journal of clinical neurophysiology : official publication of the American Electroencephalographic Society* 1999; **16**(4): 354-60.
- 124. Leao RN, Avila P, Cavaco R, Germano N, Bento L. Therapeutic hypothermia after cardiac arrest: outcome predictors. *Rev Bras Ter Intensiva* 2015; **27**(4): 322-32.
- 125. Tsetsou S, Oddo M, Rossetti AO. Clinical outcome after a reactive hypothermic EEG following cardiac arrest. *Neurocritical care* 2013; **19**(3): 283-6.
- 126. Chokroverty S. "Alpha-like" rhythms in electroencephalograms in coma after cariac arrest. *Neurology* 1975; **25**(7): 655-63.
- Vignaendra V, Wilkus RJ, Copass MK, Chatrian GE. Electroencephalographic rhythms of alpha frequency in comatose patients after cardiopulmonary arrest. *Neurology* 1974; 24(6): 582-8.
- 128. Grindal AB, Suter C, Martinez AJ. Alpha-pattern coma: 24 cases with 9 survivors. *Annals of neurology* 1977; 1(4): 371-7.
- 129. Berkhoff M, Donati F, Bassetti C. Postanoxic alpha (theta) coma: a reappraisal of its prognostic significance. *Clinical neurophysiology : official journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology* 2000; **111**(2): 297-304.
- 130. Kaplan PW, Genoud D, Ho TW, Jallon P. Etiology, neurologic correlations, and prognosis in alpha coma. *Clinical neurophysiology : official journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology* 1999; **110**(2): 205-13.
- Crepeau AZ, Rabinstein AA, Fugate JE, et al. Continuous EEG in therapeutic hypothermia after cardiac arrest: prognostic and clinical value. *Neurology* 2013; 80(4): 339-44.
- 132. Fischgold H. Obnubilations comas et stupeurs: études électroencephalographiques. *Electroencephalography and clinical neurophysiology* 1959; **11(Suppl 11)**: 27-68.
- 133. Young GB, McLachlan RS, Kreeft JH, Demelo JD. An electroencephalographic classification for coma. *The Canadian journal of neurological sciences Le journal canadien des sciences neurologiques* 1997; **24**(4): 320-5.

- Sivaraju A, Gilmore EJ, Wira CR, et al. Prognostication of post-cardiac arrest coma: early clinical and electroencephalographic predictors of outcome. *Intensive care medicine* 2015; **41**(7): 1264-72.
- 135. Zhang Y, Su YY, Haupt WF, et al. Application of electrophysiologic techniques in poor outcome prediction among patients with severe focal and diffuse ischemic brain injury. *Journal of clinical neurophysiology : official publication of the American Electroencephalographic Society* 2011; **28**(5): 497-503.
- 136. Rossetti AO, Oddo M, Logroscino G, Kaplan PW. Prognostication after cardiac arrest and hypothermia: a prospective study. *Annals of neurology* 2010; **67**(3): 301-7.
- Rossetti AO, Carrera E, Oddo M. Early EEG correlates of neuronal injury after brain anoxia. *Neurology* 2012; 78(11): 796-802.
- Juan E, Novy J, Suys T, Oddo M, Rossetti AO. Clinical evolution after a nonreactive hypothermic EEG following cardiac arrest. *Neurocritical care* 2015; 22(3): 403-8.
- 139. Hermans MC, Westover MB, van Putten MJ, Hirsch LJ, Gaspard N. Quantification of EEG reactivity in comatose patients. *Clinical neurophysiology : official journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology* 2016; **127**(1): 571-80.
- 140. Noirhomme Q, Lehembre R, Lugo Zdel R, et al. Automated analysis of background EEG and reactivity during therapeutic hypothermia in comatose patients after cardiac arrest. *Clinical EEG and neuroscience* 2014; **45**(1): 6-13.
- 141. Samaniego EA, Persoon S, Wijman CA. Prognosis after cardiac arrest and hypothermia: a new paradigm. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep* 2011; **11**(1): 111-9.
- 142. Wennervirta JE, Ermes MJ, Tiainen SM, et al. Hypothermia-treated cardiac arrest patients with good neurological outcome differ early in quantitative variables of EEG suppression and epileptiform activity. *Critical care medicine* 2009; **37**(8): 2427-35.
- 143. Cloostermans MC, van Meulen FB, Eertman CJ, Hom HW, van Putten MJ. Continuous electroencephalography monitoring for early prediction of neurological outcome in postanoxic patients after cardiac arrest: a prospective cohort study. *Critical care medicine* 2012; **40**(10): 2867-75.
- 144. Tjepkema-Cloostermans MC, Hofmeijer J, Trof RJ, Blans MJ, Beishuizen A, van Putten MJ. Electroencephalogram predicts outcome in patients with postanoxic coma during mild therapeutic hypothermia. *Critical care medicine* 2015; **43**(1): 159-67.
- 145. Oh SH, Park KN, Kim YM, et al. The prognostic value of continuous amplitudeintegrated electroencephalogram applied immediately after return of spontaneous circulation in therapeutic hypothermia-treated cardiac arrest patients. *Resuscitation* 2013; **84**(2): 200-5.
- 146. Oh SH, Park KN, Shon YM, et al. Continuous Amplitude-Integrated Electroencephalographic Monitoring Is a Useful Prognostic Tool for Hypothermia-Treated Cardiac Arrest Patients. *Circulation* 2015; **132**(12): 1094-103.
- Rossetti AO, Urbano LA, Delodder F, Kaplan PW, Oddo M. Prognostic value of continuous EEG monitoring during therapeutic hypothermia after cardiac arrest. *Critical care* 2010; 14(5): R173.

- 148. Lamartine Monteiro M, Taccone FS, Depondt C, et al. The Prognostic Value of 48-h Continuous EEG During Therapeutic Hypothermia After Cardiac Arrest. *Neurocritical care* 2015.
- 149. Sadaka F, Doerr D, Hindia J, Lee KP, Logan W. Continuous Electroencephalogram in Comatose Postcardiac Arrest Syndrome Patients Treated With Therapeutic Hypothermia: Outcome Prediction Study. *J Intensive Care Med* 2015; **30**(5): 292-6.
- 150. Amorim E, Rittenberger JC, Baldwin ME, Callaway CW, Popescu A, Post Cardiac Arrest S. Malignant EEG patterns in cardiac arrest patients treated with targeted temperature management who survive to hospital discharge. *Resuscitation* 2015; **90**: 127-32.
- Stammet P, Wagner DR, Gilson G, Devaux Y. Modeling serum level of s100beta and bispectral index to predict outcome after cardiac arrest. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2013; 62(9): 851-8.
- 152. Stammet P, Collignon O, Werer C, Sertznig C, Devaux Y. Bispectral index to predict neurological outcome early after cardiac arrest. *Resuscitation* 2014; **85**(12): 1674-80.
- 153. Stammet P, Werer C, Mertens L, Lorang C, Hemmer M. Bispectral index (BIS) helps predicting bad neurological outcome in comatose survivors after cardiac arrest and induced therapeutic hypothermia. *Resuscitation* 2009; **80**(4): 437-42.
- 154. Leary M, Fried DA, Gaieski DF, et al. Neurologic prognostication and bispectral index monitoring after resuscitation from cardiac arrest. *Resuscitation* 2010; **81**(9): 1133-7.
- 155. Selig C, Riegger C, Dirks B, Pawlik M, Seyfried T, Klingler W. Bispectral index (BIS) and suppression ratio (SR) as an early predictor of unfavourable neurological outcome after cardiac arrest. *Resuscitation* 2014; **85**(2): 221-6.
- 156. Seder DB, Fraser GL, Robbins T, Libby L, Riker RR. The bispectral index and suppression ratio are very early predictors of neurological outcome during therapeutic hypothermia after cardiac arrest. *Intensive care medicine* 2010; **36**(2): 281-8.
- 157. Hofmeijer J, Beernink TM, Bosch FH, Beishuizen A, Tjepkema-Cloostermans MC, van Putten MJ. Early EEG contributes to multimodal outcome prediction of postanoxic coma. *Neurology* 2015; 85(2): 137-43.
- 158. Hofmeijer J, Tjepkema-Cloostermans MC, van Putten MJ. Burst-suppression with identical bursts: a distinct EEG pattern with poor outcome in postanoxic coma. *Clinical neurophysiology : official journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology* 2014; **125**(5): 947-54.
- 159. Thomke F, Marx JJ, Sauer O, et al. Observations on comatose survivors of cardiopulmonary resuscitation with generalized myoclonus. *BMC Neurol* 2005; **5**: 14.
- 160. Rittenberger JC, Popescu A, Brenner RP, Guyette FX, Callaway CW. Frequency and timing of nonconvulsive status epilepticus in comatose post-cardiac arrest subjects treated with hypothermia. *Neurocritical care* 2012; **16**(1): 114-22.
- 161. Schmitt FC, Buchheim K, Meierkord H, Holtkamp M. Anticonvulsant properties of hypothermia in experimental status epilepticus. *Neurobiol Dis* 2006; **23**(3): 689-96.
- 162. Rossetti AO. What is the value of hypothermia in acute neurologic diseases and status epilepticus? *Epilepsia* 2011; **52 Suppl 8**: 64-6.

- Claassen J, Mayer SA, Kowalski RG, Emerson RG, Hirsch LJ. Detection of electrographic seizures with continuous EEG monitoring in critically ill patients. *Neurology* 2004; 62(10): 1743-8.
- 164. Mani R, Schmitt SE, Mazer M, Putt ME, Gaieski DF. The frequency and timing of epileptiform activity on continuous electroencephalogram in comatose post-cardiac arrest syndrome patients treated with therapeutic hypothermia. *Resuscitation* 2012; 83(7): 840-7.
- 165. Knight WA, Hart KW, Adeoye OM, et al. The incidence of seizures in patients undergoing therapeutic hypothermia after resuscitation from cardiac arrest. *Epilepsy Res* 2013; **106**(3): 396-402.
- 166. Legriel S, Hilly-Ginoux J, Resche-Rigon M, et al. Prognostic value of electrographic postanoxic status epilepticus in comatose cardiac-arrest survivors in the therapeutic hypothermia era. *Resuscitation* 2013; **84**(3): 343-50.
- 167. Rossetti AO, Logroscino G, Liaudet L, et al. Status epilepticus: an independent outcome predictor after cerebral anoxia. *Neurology* 2007; **69**(3): 255-60.
- 168. Krumholz A, Stern BJ, Weiss HD. Outcome from coma after cardiopulmonary resuscitation: relation to seizures and myoclonus. *Neurology* 1988; **38**(3): 401-5.
- Legriel S, Bruneel F, Sediri H, et al. Early EEG monitoring for detecting postanoxic status epilepticus during therapeutic hypothermia: a pilot study. *Neurocritical care* 2009; 11(3): 338-44.
- 170. Ribeiro A, Singh R, Brunnhuber F. Clinical outcome of generalized periodic epileptiform discharges on first EEG in patients with hypoxic encephalopathy postcardiac arrest. *Epilepsy & behavior : E&B* 2015; **49**: 268-72.
- 171. Synek VM, Shaw NA. Epileptiform discharges in presence of continuous background activity in anoxic coma. *Clinical EEG* 1989; **20**(2): 141-6.
- 172. Ruijter BJ, van Putten MJ, Hofmeijer J. Generalized epileptiform discharges in postanoxic encephalopathy: Quantitative characterization in relation to outcome. *Epilepsia* 2015; **56**(11): 1845-54.
- 173. Dragancea I, Backman S, Westhall E, Rundgren M, Friberg H, Cronberg T. Outcome following postanoxic status epilepticus in patients with targeted temperature management after cardiac arrest. *Epilepsy & behavior : E&B* 2015; **49**: 173-7.
- 174. Claassen J, Hirsch LJ, Frontera JA, et al. Prognostic significance of continuous EEG monitoring in patients with poor-grade subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurocritical care* 2006; **4**(2): 103-12.
- 175. Pedersen GL, Rasmussen SB, Gyllenborg J, Benedek K, Lauritzen M. Prognostic value of periodic electroencephalographic discharges for neurological patients with profound disturbances of consciousness. *Clinical neurophysiology : official journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology* 2013; **124**(1): 44-51.
- 176. Hirsch LJ, Claassen J. The current state of treatment of status epilepticus. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep* 2002; **2**(4): 345-56.
- 177. Tjepkema-Cloostermans MC, Hindriks R, Hofmeijer J, van Putten MJ. Generalized periodic discharges after acute cerebral ischemia: reflection of selective synaptic failure? *Clinical neurophysiology : official journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology* 2014; **125**(2): 255-62.

- 178. Brophy GM, Bell R, Claassen J, et al. Guidelines for the evaluation and management of status epilepticus. *Neurocritical care* 2012; **17**(1): 3-23.
- Rossetti AO, Oddo M, Liaudet L, Kaplan PW. Predictors of awakening from postanoxic status epilepticus after therapeutic hypothermia. *Neurology* 2009; 72(8): 744-9.
- 180. Westhall E, Rundgren M, Lilja G, Friberg H, Cronberg T. Postanoxic status epilepticus can be identified and treatment guided successfully by continuous electroencephalography. *Ther Hypothermia Temp Manag* 2013; **3**(2): 84-7.
- 181. Cronberg T, Rundgren M, Westhall E, et al. Neuron-specific enolase correlates with other prognostic markers after cardiac arrest. *Neurology* 2011; **77**(7): 623-30.
- 182. Ko SB, Ortega-Gutierrez S, Choi HA, et al. Status epilepticus-induced hyperemia and brain tissue hypoxia after cardiac arrest. *Arch Neurol* 2011; **68**(10): 1323-6.
- 183. Nielsen N, Wetterslev J, al-Subaie N, et al. Target Temperature Management after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest--a randomized, parallel-group, assessor-blinded clinical trial--rationale and design. *Am Heart J* 2012; **163**(4): 541-8.
- 184. Langhelle A, Nolan J, Herlitz J, et al. Recommended guidelines for reviewing, reporting, and conducting research on post-resuscitation care: the Utstein style. *Resuscitation* 2005; 66(3): 271-83.
- 185. Kaplan PW. The EEG in metabolic encephalopathy and coma. *Journal of clinical neurophysiology : official publication of the American Electroencephalographic Society* 2004; **21**(5): 307-18.
- 186. Brenner RP. EEG in convulsive and nonconvulsive status epilepticus. Journal of clinical neurophysiology : official publication of the American Electroencephalographic Society 2004; 21(5): 319-31.
- 187. Young GB, Jordan KG, Doig GS. An assessment of nonconvulsive seizures in the intensive care unit using continuous EEG monitoring: an investigation of variables associated with mortality. *Neurology* 1996; **47**(1): 83-9.
- 188. Chong DJ, Hirsch LJ. Which EEG patterns warrant treatment in the critically ill? Reviewing the evidence for treatment of periodic epileptiform discharges and related patterns. *Journal of clinical neurophysiology : official publication of the American Electroencephalographic Society* 2005; 22(2): 79-91.
- Kaplan PW. The EEG of status epilepticus. *Journal of clinical neurophysiology : official publication of the American Electroencephalographic Society* 2006; 23(3): 221-9.
- 190. Hirsch LJ, Brenner RP. Atlas of EEG in critical care. Chichester, UK ; Hoboken, NJ: Wiley-Blackwell; 2010.
- Friberg H, Rundgren M, Westhall E, Nielsen N, Cronberg T. Continuous evaluation of neurological prognosis after cardiac arrest. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand* 2013; 57(1): 6-15.
- 192. Fugate JE, Wijdicks EF, White RD, Rabinstein AA. Does therapeutic hypothermia affect time to awakening in cardiac arrest survivors? *Neurology* 2011; 77(14): 1346-50.



Erik Westhall is a clinical neurophysiologist at Skane University Hospital, Sweden. This thesis is focusing on electroencephalography (EEG) in comatose patients resuscitated after cardiac arrest. In the picture he is interpreting an EEG and when he is not doing that he lives with his family in Lund and enjoys playing with his two children, floorball in the weekends and boatlife in the summer!



Faculty of Medicine

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2016:29 ISBN 978-91-7619-255-9 ISSN 1652-8220

